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2013 24
@
2022
590,711,803.11 54.58
157,000,000.00 14.51
168,919,318.81 15.61
86,719,559.49 8.01
1,003,350,681.41 92.71
78,891,228.78 7.29
1,082,241,910.19 100.00
( 8,853 )
@
2022
( ) ( )
)
)
1 ;giuzgg*( AS OPCT 0.000| 2022/8/19 | 70,000,000.00| 0.96| 66,946,600.00| 0.98| 68,260,272.05| 6.31
o |TRT030523T13 01JuL22 13.490| 2022/7/1 65,000,000.00| 1.00| 65,000,000.00| 1.00| 65,000,000.00{ 6.01
13 . A9%AKM
3 EEEZZ/;KM 20-00PCT 20.000| 2022/8/5 60,000,000.00| 1.00| 60,000,000.00| 1.00| 60,000,000.00| 5.54
TURKEY GOVERNMENT BOND
4 |13 000000 09NOV22 13.900| 2022/11/9 | 59,000,000.00 0.98| 58,107,400.00| 0.99| 58,357,616.78| 5.39
TURKEY GOVERNMENT BOND
5 {5.500000 14sep22 8.500| 2022/9714 | 55,000,000.00| 0.98| 53,713,500.00| 0.99| 54,237,824.02| 5.01
g | VAKIF FINANS FACTORING 0.000| 2022/9720 | 50,000,000.00| 0.95| 47,290,000.00| 0.95| 47,386,785.70| 4.38
0 20Sep22
QNB FINANSBANK AS
7 | TURKEY OPCT 223122 0.000| 2022/7/22 | 45,000,000.00| 0.96| 43,212,150.00| 0.99| 44,563,431.75| 4.12
8 EQZQPEEED' YAT MEN OPCT 0.000| 2022/9/7 45,000,000.00| 0.95| 42,849,900.00| 0.96| 43,259,442.88| 4.00
9 ZE%EEQNK AS OPCT 0.000 2022/8/3 | 40,000,000.00| 0.95| 38,085,600.00| 0.98| 39,398,331.36| 3.64
10 ggiﬁggzms opet 0.000| 2022/8/9 40,000,000.00| 0.96| 38,449,600.00| 0.98| 39,204,400.00| 3.62
YAPI VE KREDI BANKASI
11 | \¢ opeT 12A0622 0.000| 2022/8/12 | 40,000,000.00| 0.96| 38,588,000.00| 0.98| 39,058,666.70| 3.61
12 g'i%éggw AS OPCT 0.000| 2022/8/31 | 40,000,000.00| 0.96| 38,282,400.00| 0.96| 38,481,542.00| 3.56
AK YATIRIM MENKUL DEG
13 {'ss opCT 275EP22 0.000| 2022/9/27 | 40,000,000.00| 0.93| 37,172,800.00| 0.96| 38,373,897.95| 3.55
QNB FINANSBANK AS
14 | JURKEY OPCT 00SEP22 0.000| 2022/9/9 40,000,000.00| 0.95| 38,032,800.00| 0.96| 38,256,911.43| 3.53
AK YATIRIM MENKUL DEG
15 | 0oeT 0700122 0.000| 2022/7/7 35,000,000.00| 0.96| 33,724,600.00| 1.00| 34,901,892.16| 3.22
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16 ISRSE(YETG;)\;XUEEED 10.700| 2022/8/17 30,000,000.00( 0.94 28,254,000.00| 0.99 29,621,833.60 2.74
17 gziﬁggzms opCT 0.000| 2022/8/2 30,000,000.00( 0.96 28,837,800.00| 0.99 29,562,465.82 2.73
18 ISZLIJGEZEDI YAT NEN OPCT 0.000( 2022/8/10 30,000,000.00( 0.96 28,819,200.00| 0.98 29,437,714.16 2.72
19 gég?N'OF]I-SEggORING S 0.000| 2022/9/1 30,000,000.00( 0.95 28,572,900.00| 0.96 28,946,664 .38 2.67
20 X;\PéP\éE gggg;ngNKASI 0.000| 2022/9/9 30,000,000.00( 0.95 28,524,600.00| 0.96 28,692,683.55 2.65
21 ;ﬁzi;\;i X‘SEWI'FZS‘F]{ULZZ 0.000| 2022/7/22 25,000,000.00| 0.96 23,940,750.00| 0.99 24,760,814.16 2.29
22 ggz.:. ;ZES(ISZZAKTORING AS 0.000| 2022/8/26 20,000,000.00| 0.96 19,117,600.00( 0.97 19,366,482.04 1.79
23 ggzéggzms opCT 0.000( 2022/9/2 20,000,000.00( 0.95 19,050,400.00| 0.96 19,296,178.72 1.78
24 ggcilggxiézzKlRALAMA AS 0.000( 2022/8/22 17,000,000.00| 0.95 16,078,430.00| 0.98 16,590,413.55 1.53
25 géz_:_ Egﬁg:zzAKTORING AS 0.000| 2022/7/19 15,000,000.00| 0.94 14,160,750.00| 0.99 14,871,979.00 1.37
26 ggg_’;IIgAbzngNKASI S 0.000| 2022/8/12 15,000,000.00| 0.96 14,419,500.00| 0.98 14,691,379.70 1.36
27 ggz?Ng;AESZORING S 0.000| 2022/8/2 14,000,000.00| 0.95 13,321,560.00| 0.99 13,791,249.12 1.27
28 X/._:P(I)P\és' EEEEQZBANKASI 0.000| 2022/7/1 10,000,000.00| 0.96 9,633,000.00( 1.00 10,000,000.00 0.92
29 XépéP\é'Er ESEBII_ZEANKASI 0.000| 2022/7/29 10,000,000.00| 0.95 9,543,200.00 0.99 9,872,096.00 0.91
30 EKEELEE \(;QE':'FZQ‘FJ{ULZZ 0.000| 2022/7/29 5,000,000.00| 0.96 4,788,150.00 0.99 4,936,217.40 0.46
1 2022 30
2
(2022 )
(2022 )
3)
2022

47,895,501.00 391,785 0.01 0.0818

(2014 19 P ’
53,054,040.00 433,982 0.01 0.0818

(2015 19 o ’
78,400,496.00 641,316 0.01 0.0818

(2016 19 S ’
134,183,223.78 1,097,619 0.01 0.0818

(2017 19 e U
273,535,543.00 2,237,521 0.01 0.0818

(2018 19 O e
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(2019 19 ) 470,023,300.00 3,844,791 0.01 0.0818
(2020 19 ) 764,811,580.00 6,256,159 0.01 0.0818
(2021 19 ) 870,720,973.00 7,122,498 0.01 0.0818
(2022 19 ) 1,001,864,551.00 8,195,252 0.01 0.0818
2021 889,123,219.94 7,273,028 0.01 0.0818
923,385,245.59 7,553,291 0.01 0.0818

937,213,839.93 7,666,409 0.01 0.0818

10 968,686,612.21 7,923,856 0.01 0.0818

11 966,914,305.73 7,909,359 0.01 0.0818

12 959,388,247.96 7,847,796 0.01 0.0818

2022 958,015,781.12 7,836,569 0.01 0.0818
1,027,901,601.60 8,408,235 0.01 0.0818

1,005,049,611.41 8,221,306 0.01 0.0818

1,077,117,536.70 8,810,821 0.01 0.0818

1,124,335,028.42 9,197,061 0.01 0.0818

1,082,241,910.19 8,852,739 0.01 0.0818

(201 3%F8H248~202246R4

(M B ~ILaUS) (HBEEREANLIUS)
0.03 1,200
Wi RE (Al
— 1O =UsEEE R (o) 1,000
0.02 800
600
0.01 400
200
0 0
2013%9H 2015491 2017%9H 2019%9H 2021498
0.000294416 0.002408323
2013 24 2014 19
0.000636892 0.005209777
2014 20 2015 19
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2015 20 2016 19 0.000770311 0.006301144
2016 20 2017 19 0.000796358 0.006514208
2017 20 2018 19 0.001067952 0.008735847
2018 20 2019 19 0.001729305 0.014145715
2019 20 2020 19 0.001553185 0.012705053
2020 20 2021 19 0.000921065 0.007534312
2021 0 2022 19 0.001553211 0.012705266

SATNLTUS, | QSRR
ELEEERE
@oi7e3R208~201853A199) | 0001067952
HoREEFE
(2018%38208~2019838 10g) | 9001729305
B/EEEFE
(2019%33208~2020538 19g) | 0001223185
SEEREERE
(020533200 ~2021538 195 | 0:000921065
FOSEtERE
(20214 38208~2022&38198) 0.001553211
B 1 FEREt
(202157 A1 B~ 2022k 6axE) | 0-001526574
ERTERRE
(2013%9R 245~ 202266/ | 0009729033
2013 24 2014 19 2.94
2014 20 2015 19 6.37
2015 20 2016 19 7.70
2016 20 2017 19 7.96
2017 20 2018 19 10.68
2018 20 2019 19 17.29
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15.
2019 20 2020 19 5-53
9.21
2020 20 2021 19
15.
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4,011,610,366 3,504,448,277 5,348,910,744
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909,565 7,440,242
4,640,115 37,956,141
1,171,333,030 9,581,504,185
157,000,000 1,284,260,000
1,154,102 9,440,554
9,017,725 73,764,991
8 2,296,652 18,786,613
169,468,479 1,386,252,158
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80,499,361 658,484,773
80,421,277 657,846,046
160,920, 638 1,316,330,819
7 8 2,812,595 23,007,027
7 8 5,156,423 42,179,540
8 4,218,192 34,504,811
7 8 234,383 1,917,253
8 955,977 7,819,892
8 1,125,622 9,207,588
7 8 375,013 3,067,606
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16,910,810 138,330,426
144,009,828 1,178,000,393
(2,951) (24,139)

144,006,877 1,177,976,254
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«C ) (8,012,659) (65,543,551)
5 957,000,017 7,828,260,139
5 7,945,308 64,992,619
5 (936,504,250) (7.660,604,765)
5 (3.536,742) (28,930,550)
5 (32,245,484) (263,768,059)
«C ) (7,341,151) (60,050,615)
(15,353,810) (125,594,166)
107,506,038 879,399,391
92,152,228 753,805,225
86,417,069 706,891,624
2022 19
2022

0.01 0.08

70/235



(

(

)

)

(

)

(

)

(

)

(

)

EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
oogoodooodooodonoodd

0.0014 0.01
0.0014 0.01
(0.0014) (0.01)
0.01 0.08
(1.67)
14.21
14.21
2022 19
( ) -
)
2013 10
2013 18

71/235



2022

19

2022

EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2013 24
)
( )
( )
(
(
)
2022 19
( )
( )
(
( ) 946

19

721235



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2022 19

2022 19

2022 17 18 19

2022 16

73/235



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

90

2022 19

2022 17 18 19 2022 16

74/235



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

)
50
2022 19
¢ )
740
740
740
50
50
50
50

12

2022 19

75/235



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

0.01

2022 19

480

2022 19

76/235



EDINETOOOO

o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2022 19
« )
« )
)
«C
2022 19
2022 19
1 2 3
116,274,962 643,356,160 759,631,122
314,000,000 314,000,000
116,274,962 957,356,160 1,073,631,122
( )
110
2022 19
349,347,228
2022 19
« )

771235



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2022 19

2022 24

2022 19

781235



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2022 19
( +) (
)( +) ( )
2022 19

« )+ 246,016,610 32.38
C ) . 216,717,823 28.53
( ) . 168,919,319 2224
« ) * 127,977,370 16.85

759,631,122 100.00

( )
2022 19
C )
C )

79/235



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2022 19

2022 19

87,072,094,934
106,764,778,937
(93,650,424,977)

100,186,448,894

80/235



EDINETOOOO

o = 2573

2022 19 144,006,838
110,647,772

2022 19
¢
52,912,805
( ) 86,719,559
20.67  13.07
2022 19
« )
0.025
40,000
0.04
43,000
0.30

0.55

81/235

Ooooooooooooooooooad

5,432,669
86,719,559

92,152,228

10.22



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

0.08
8,900
8,900
270 45
0.12
2,100
0.35
30
0.10
2022 19
« )
2022 19

181,005
331,842
271,120
15,084
80,112
359,931
24,134
340,318
693,106
2,296,652

2022 19

82/235



2022

10
2022

2022

@

2022

11

314,000,000

EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

19 2022 23
13.70
2022 19
)
19
19
@

314,000,000 314,000,000 314,000,000

314,000,000 314,000,000 314,000,000
19

2022
1,002,109,089

(244,538)

83/235



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
ooooodooodooodonoodd
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100,210,902,641
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414,782,614
293,241,953
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)
Ak Yatirim Menkul Deg As 0% 29-Mar-22 28,895,100 29,884,562 2.98
Ak Yatirim Menkul Deg As 0% 22-Apr-22 38,490,400 39,367,600 3.93
Ak Yatirim Menkul Deg As 0% 10-May-22 9,592,600 9,762,350 0.97
Akbank T.A.S 0% 11-Apr-22 20,480,470 21,287,598 2.12
Akbank T.A.S 0% 20-May-22 12,567,726 13,016,374 1.30
Garanti Faktoring As 0% 18-May-22 17,203,680 17,506,628 1.75
Garanti Faktoring As 0% 31-May-22 12,474,020 12,566,840 1.25
Hazine Mustesarligi Varl 9.4% 11-May-22 65,168,400 65,505,000 6.54
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Is Finansal Kiralama As 0% 22-Apr-22
Is Finansal Kiralama As 0% 14-Jun-22
Is Yatirim Menkul Degerl 0% 06-May-22
Qnb Finansbank As Turkey 0% 25-Mar-22
Qnb Finansbank As Turkey 0% 25-Mar-22
Qnb Finansbank As Turkey 0% 22-Apr-22
Turkey Government Bond 0% 13-Apr-22
Turkey Government Bond 0% 15-Jun-22
Turkey Government Bond 10.7% 17-Aug-22
Turkiye Garanti Bankasi 0% 29-Apr-22
Turkiye Is Bankasi As 0% 26-Apr-22
Turkiye Is Bankasi As 0% 09-May-22
Turkiye Vakiflar Bankasi 0% 03-Jun-22
Yapi Kredi Yat Men 0% 18-May-22

Yapi Kredi Yat Men 0% 08-Jun-22

Yapi Kredi Yat Men 0% 15-Jun-22

Yapi Ve Kredi Bankasi As 0% 10-May-22
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34,990,881 36,057,615 3.60
34,372,560 34,935,940 3.49
48,548,000 48,962,857 4.88
28,783,800 29,949,325 2.99
9,642,300 9,983,491 1.00
38,422,000 39,360,523 3.93
8,284,185 8,426,955 0.84
63,598,510 66,178,184 6.61
28,254,000 28,809,180 2.88
50,993,250 54,129,962 5.40
9,568,000 9,817,831 0.98
19,188,200 19,530,525 1.95
52,744,750 53,221,054 5.31
33,050,850 34,164,650 3.41
29,387,575 29,562,565 2.95
9,956,100 10,079,714 1.01
36,567,000 37,563,799 3.75
741,224,357 759,631,122 75.82
157,000,000 157,000,000 15.67
157,000,000 157,000,000 15.67
314,000,000 314,000,000 31.34
86,719,559 86,719,559 8.66
86,719,559 86,719,559 8.66
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Statement of Assets and Liabilities
As at March 19, 2022

2022

Note TRY
Assets
Investment in debt securities, at fair value
(Cost: TRY741,224,357) 3 759,631,122
Cash and cash equivalents 6 92,152,228
Receivables from repurchase agreements 3.9,10 314,000,000
Subscriptions receivable 909,565
Interest receivable 4,640,115
Total Assets 1,171,333,030
Liabilities
Payable for investments purchased 157,000,000
Redemptions payable 1,154,102
Distributions payable 9,017,725
Other payables 8 2,296,652
Total Liabilities 169,468,479
Net Assets 11 1,001,864,551
Net Asset Value (“NAV™) per Unit
(based on 100,186,448,894 Units outstanding) 5,11 TRY0.01

The accompanying notes and schedules form an integral part of these financial statements.
Signed on behalf of the Trustee:
DecuSigned by: DecuSigned by:
[ Dnid kst s (st

FISEEREDSASFA48.. CIBEZX20BZH847Y...

Date: August 19, 2022
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Statement of Operations
For the year ended March 19, 2022

Investment income
Interest income
Accretion of acquisition discount

Total investment income

Expenses

Investment Manager fees
Sub-Investment Manager fees
Distributors and Agent Company fees
Manager fees

Administration fees

Custodian fees

Trustee fees

Audit fees

Other fees and expenses

Total expenses
Net investment income

Net realized loss on investments

Net increase in Net Assets resulting from operations

Note

7.8
7.8

7.8

7.8

Ooooooooooooooooooad

2022
TRY

80,499,361

80,421,277

160,920,638

2,812,595
5,156,423
4,218,192
234,383
955,977
1,125,622
375,013
374,195

1,658.410

16,910,810
144,009,828

(2,951)
144,006,877

The accompanying notes and schedules form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Statement of Changes in Net Assets
For the year ended March 19, 2022

2022

TRY
Operations
Net investment income 144,009,828
Net realized loss on investments (2,951)
Net increase in Net Assets resulting from operations 144,006,877
Capital Transactions
Distributions to Unitholders (144,006,838)
[ssuance of Units (106,764,778,937 Units) 1,067,647,789
Redemption of Units (93,650,424,977 Units) (936,504,250)
Net decrease in Net Assets resulting from capital transactions (12,863,299)
Net increase in Net Assets 131,143,578
Net Assets at beginning of year 870,720,973
Net Assets at end of year 1,001,864,551

The accompanying notes and schedules form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended March 19, 2022

2022

Note TRY
Cash flows from operating activities
Net increase in Net Assets resulting from operations 144,006,877
Adjustments to reconcile net increase in Net Assets
resulting from operations to net cash and cash equivalents used in
operating activities:
Payments for purchase of debt securities (2,178,893,558)
Payments for purchase of repurchase agreements (58,952,500,000)
Proceeds from sale of debt securities 1,940,439,188
Proceeds from settlement of repurchase agreements 59,032,500,000
Net realized loss on investments 2,951
Decrease in interest receivable 5,917,708
Increase in other payables 514,175
Net cash and cash equivalents used in operating activities (8,012,659)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of Units 5 957,000,017
Decrease in Subscriptions receivable 5 7.945,308
Payments for redemption of Units 5 (936,504,250)
Decrease in Redemptions payable 5 (3,536,742)
Distributions paid to Unitholders 5 (32,245,484)
Net cash and cash equivalents used in financing activities (7.341,151)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (15,353,810)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 107,506,038
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 92,152,228
Supplementary information:

Interest received 86,417,069

The accompanying notes and schedules form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Financial Highlights
For the year ended March 19, 2022

2022
TRY
Per Unit operating performance:
NAV per Unit, beginning of vear 0.01
Income from investment operations (B)
Net investment income 0.0014
Total income from investment operations 0.0014
Less distributions (0.0014)
NAYV per Unit, end of year 0.01
Ratios/supplemental data:
Ratio of total expenses to average Net Assets (A) (1.67)%
Ratio of net investment income to average Net Assets (A) 14.21%
Total Return (A) 14.21%

(A) Total return is calculated based on the change in NAV per Unit during the year. This return
includes the return associated with the distributed amount. Expense ratio and net investment
income ratio are calculated based on the average Net Assets outstanding throughout the year. The
financial highlights are reflected after all investment-related and operating expenses.

(B) Results vary based upon participation in certain investments, fee arrangements and timing of

capital transactions. Per Unit information is calculated based upon the monthly average Units
outstanding during the year.
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 19, 2022

1. Description of the Trust

Turkish Lira Money Market Fund (the “Series Trust”) is a series trust of Multi Strategies Fund (the
“Trust™). The Trust is an open-ended umbrella unit trust constituted by a master trust deed dated June
10, 2013 and made between the Trustee and the Manager. The Trust has been constituted as an
umbrella unit trust under the Trusts Act (as Revised) of the Cayman Islands and registered under the
Mutual Funds Act (as Revised) of the Cayman Islands on June 18, 2013. A separate portfolio or series
trust can be created and established to which assets and liabilities attributable to the relevant series
trust will be applied. The Master Trust Deed is governed by the laws of the Cayman Islands.

As at March 19, 2022 there is one series trust of the Trust, which is the Series Trust, which
commenced operations on September 24, 2013. These financial statements comprise only the accounts
of the Series Trust.

The investment objective of the Series Trust is to preserve principal value and maintain a high degree
of liquidity while providing current income by investing in Turkish Lira denominated short term
financial instruments, including but not limited to municipal bonds, corporate bonds, certificates of
deposit, asset backed securities, bank deposits and repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements.

International Management Services Ltd. (the “Manager™) is the Manager, Sompo Asset Management
Co., Ltd. (the “Investment Manager™) is the Investment Manager, Ak Portfoy Yonetimi A.S. (the
“Sub-Investment Manager™) is the Sub-Investment Manager and Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank,
Limited (London Branch) (the “Custodian™) is the Custodian. The administration of the Series Trust is
delegated to SMT Fund Services (Ireland) Limited (the “Administrator™).

The Series Trust had no employees during the year or as at March 19, 2022.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The financial statements are prepared in conformity with US generally accepted accounting principles
(“US GAAP™). The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis.

The financial statements have been prepared in Turkish Lira (“TRY™), which is the Series Trust’s
functional currency.

The Series Trust is considered an investment company under US GAAP and follows the accounting
and reporting guidance applicable to investment companies in the Financial Accounting Standards

Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC™) Topic 946, Financial Services -
Investment Companies.

12
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 19, 2022

(Continued)
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

In the opinion of the Investment Manager, the Series Trust possesses the fundamental characteristics of
an investment company because the following conditions exist:

i. The Series Trust obtains funds from investors and provides those investors with investment
management services.

ii. The business purpose and only substantive activities, which were communicated to investors, are
investing solely for returns from capital appreciation and investment income.

iii. The Series Trust has identified exit strategies for the investments it holds for returns from capital
appreciation.

iv. The Series Trust does not have an objective of obtaining results or benefits other than capital
appreciation and investment income from its investments,

In the opinion of the Investment Manager, the Series Trust also possesses the typical characteristics of
an investment company:

i. The Series Trust holds more than one investment.

ii. The Series Trust is funded by multiple investors.

iii. The Series Trust has investors that hold a significant interest in the Series Trust and are not related
to the Investment Manager.

iv. Ownership in the Series Trust is represented by equity interests acquired through capital
contributions.

v. The Series Trust manages and evaluates performance of investments on a fair value basis.

Use of estimates and judgments

Preparing financial statements in accordance with US GAAP requires management to make estimates
and assumptions in determining the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, including fair value of
investments and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as at March 19, 2022 and the reported
amounts of income and expenses during the year. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Valuation of investments

Investments consist of corporate bonds, municipal bonds, deposits and repurchase agreements. Debt
securities such as corporate bonds and municipal bonds with a remaining maturity of less than one year
are valued at fair value using an amortized cost technique (i.e. at their acquisition cost as adjusted for
the amortization of premium or accretion of discount) as the best estimate of fair value. The Manager,
through its delegates, continuously reviews the amortized cost method to ensure that investments are
stated at their fair market value. When the Series Trust purchases a financial asset and simultaneously
enters into an agreement to resell the asset at a fixed price on a future date (“repurchase agreement”),
the arrangement is accounted for as a receivable (“receivables from repurchase agreements™), and the
underlying asset is not recognized on the Series Trust’s financial statements.

When the Series Trust sells a financial asset and simultaneously enters into an agreement to repurchase
the same asset at a fixed price on a future date, the agreement is accounted for as borrowings
(“payables under repurchase agreements™), and the underlying asset is not derecognized in the Series
Trust’s financial statements. Receivables and payables from repurchase agreements are initially
measured at fair value less incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently measured at
amortized cost, using the effective interest method.
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended March 19, 2022
(Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Valuation of investments (continued)

Investment transactions are accounted for on a trade date basis. At year end, all investments are valued
as at March 16, 2022, due to March 17, 18 and 19, 2022 being non-business days in accordance with
the Series Trust’s Appendix to the Trust’s Offering Memorandum.

Realized gains and losses and movements in unrealized gains and losses are recognized in the
Statement of Operations and determined on a first-in-first-out basis. Movements in fair value are
recorded in the Statement of Operations at each valuation date.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Trustee has appointed Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited (London Branch) (the “Custodian™)
as custodian. The Custodian has, in turn, appointed Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. (“BBH™) as its
sub-custodian (the “Sub-Custodian™). Cash balances are held with the Sub-Custodian at year end.

Cash and cash equivalents includes highly liquid investments, such as money market funds, that are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash within 90 days from the date of purchase.

Cash and other liquid assets are valued at their face value with coupon interest receivable accrued,
where applicable, to the end of the relevant day.

The Series Trust does not hold any restricted cash at the year end or during the year.

Investment income
Interest income on investments held is recognized on an accruals basis. Discounts and premiums on
debt securities are amortized and accreted using the effective interest rate method over the life of the
respective securities.

Expenses
Expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis.

Foreign exchange transactions

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into TRY at the closing rates of
exchange on March 16, 2022, due to March 17, 18 and 19, 2022 being non-business days, with foreign
currency gains and losses reflected in the Statement of Operations. Purchases and sales of securities
and income and expenses are translated at the prevailing rate of exchange on the respective dates of
such transactions. Unrealized gains and losses are calculated by comparing the fair value of the
investments to the prices at which those assets were originally purchased.

The Series Trust does not isolate that portion of the results of operations resulting from changes in
foreign exchange rates on investments from the fluctuations arising from changes in the market prices
of securities. Such fluctuations are included in net realized loss on investments in the Statement of
Operations.

Receivables from repurchase agreements
Transactions involving repurchase agreements are treated as collateralized financing transactions and
are recorded at their contracted resell amounts. Interest on transactions is included in interest
receivable in the Statement of Assets and Liabilities.
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(Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Offsetting assets and liabilities

The Series Trust is required to disclose the impact of offsetting assets and liabilities represented in the
Statement of Assets and Liabilities to enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the effect or
potential effect of netting arrangements on its financial position for recognized assets and liabilities.
These recognized assets and liabilities are financial instruments and derivative instruments that are
either subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement or meet the following
right of set-off criteria: the amounts owed by the Series Trust to another party are determinable, the
Series Trust has the right to set-off the amounts owed with the amounts owed by the other party, the
Series Trust intends to set-off, and the Series Trust’s right of set-off is enforceable at law.

Taxation

The Series Trust is a Cayman Islands exempted Trust. Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands,
there are no income, estate, transfer, sale or other taxes payable by the Series Trust. The Series Trust
trades stocks and securities for its own account and, as such, is generally not subject to U.S. tax on
such earnings (other than certain withholding taxes indicated below). The Investment Manager intends
to conduct the business of the Series Trust to the maximum extent practicable so that the Series Trust’s
activities do not constitute a U.S. trade or business. Interest and other income realized by the Series
Trust from non-U.S. sources and capital gains realized on the sale of securities of non-U.S. issuers may
be subject to withholding and other taxes levied by the jurisdiction in which the income is sourced. In
accordance with the Trusts Act (as Revised), the Trust has received an undertaking exempting it from
all local taxes in the Cayman Islands for a period of 50 years from the date of creation of the Trust.

ASC 740, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes”, clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in
income taxes recognized in the Series Trust’s financial statements. ASC 740 prescribes a recognition
threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax
position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. ASC 740 requires that the enterprise determines
whether it is more likely than not that a tax position will be sustained upon examination, including
resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits of the position.
In evaluating whether a tax position has met the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, the
enterprise should presume that the position will be examined by the appropriate taxing authority that
has full knowledge of all relevant information. A tax position that meets the more-likely-than-not
recognition threshold is measured to determine the amount of benefit to recognize in the financial
statements. The tax position is measured at the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likely
of being realized upon settlement.

The Investment Manager has analyzed the Series Trust’s tax positions and has concluded that no
liability for unrecognized tax benefits should be recorded related to uncertain tax positions.
Furthermore, the Investment Manager is not aware of any tax positions for which it is reasonably
possible that the total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits will significantly change in the next twelve
months.

Payable for investments purchased

Payable for investments purchased represent amounts payable for investments purchased but not yet
settled on the Statement of Financial Position date.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Guarantees and/or Indemnifications

In the normal course of business the Series Trust enters into contracts that contain a variety of
representations, which provide general indemnifications. The Series Trust’s maximum exposure under
these arrangements is unknown, as this would involve future claims that may be made against the
Series Trust that have not yet occurred. However, based on experience, the Series Trust expects the
risk of loss to be remote.

Distribution policy

The Manager, through its delegates, declares distributions on each dealing day. The amount per Unit
distributed is a sum equal to the amount required to maintain the relevant NAV per Unit on each
dealing day at TRY0.01. Distributions payable are recognized in the Statement of Changes in Net
Assets when declared.

Classification of redemptions

ASC 480, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity, recognizes redemptions as liabilities, when the
amount requested in the redemption notice becomes fixed. This generally may occur at the time of the
receipt of the notice, or on the last day of a fiscal year, depending on the nature of the request. As a
result, redemptions paid after the end of the year, but based upon year end capital balance are reflected
as redemptions payable at March 19, 2022,

3. Fair Value Measurements

Financial instruments are recorded at fair value. Fair value is defined as the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid fo transfer a liability (i.e., the “exit price”) in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.

A fair value hierarchy of inputs is used in measuring fair value that maximizes the use of observable
inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the most observable inputs be
used when available. Observable inputs are those that market participants would use in pricing the
asset or liability based on market data obtained from sources independent of the Series Trust.
Unobservable inputs reflect the Series Trust’s assumptions about the inputs market participants would
use in pricing the asset or liability developed based on the best information available in the
circumstances,

The fair value hierarchy is categorized into three levels based on the inputs as follows:

- Level 1 — Inputs that reflect unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the Series Trust has the ability to access at the measurement date;

- Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or
indirectly, including inputs in markets that are not considered to be active;

- Level 3 — Inputs that are unobservable.

Inputs are used in applying the various valuation techniques and broadly refer to the assumptions that
market participants use to make valuation decisions, including assumptions about risk. A financial
instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is
significant to the fair value measurement. The Manager considers observable data to be that market
data which is readily available, regularly distributed or updated, reliable and verifiable, not proprietary
and provided by independent sources that are actively involved in the relevant market.
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(Continued)
3. Fair Value Measurements (continued)

The categorization of a financial instrument within the hierarchy is based upon the pricing
transparency of the instrument and does not necessarily correspond to the Manager’s perceived risk of
that instrument.

Investments whose values are based on quoted market prices in active markets are classified within
Level I.

[nvestments that trade in markets that are not considered to be active, but are valued based on quoted
market prices, dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources supported by observable inputs are
classified within Level 2. As Level 2 investments include positions that are not traded in active
markets and/or are subject to transfer restrictions, valuations may be adjusted to reflect illiquidity
and/or non-transferability, which are generally based on available market information.

Investments classified within Level 3 have significant unobservable inputs, as they trade infrequently
or not at all. The Series Trust did not hold any Level 3 investments at March 19, 2022.

The following table presents the investments of the Series Trust measured at fair value within the fair
valuation hierarchy as of March 19, 2022:

Level 1 Level Level 3
2 Total
TRY TRY TRY TRY
Assets

Debt securities 116,274,962 643,356,160 - 759,631,122

Receivables from repurchase
agreements - 314,000,000 - 314,000,000
116,274,962 957,356,160 - 1,073,631,122

There were no transfers of assets between levels during the year.

Repurchase agreements involve the purchase of a security from a counterparty, with an obligation of
the Series Trust to resell the security to the counterparty at a contracted price on maturity. In
connection with its repurchase agreements, it is the Series Trust’s policy that its Custodian, acting on
behalf of the Series Trust, take possession of the underlying collateral securities, the fair value of
which, at all times, to be least 110% of the principal amount of the repurchase agreements, including
accrued interest. If the counterparty defaults under repurchase agreements, and the fair value of the
collateral declines, the realization of the collateral by the Series Trust may be delayed or limited.

At March 19, 2022, the Series Trust received collateral consisting of municipal bonds, with a fair
value of TRY349,347,228 for its repurchase agreements. The Series Trust is not permitted to sell or
repledge collateral received in connection with its repurchase agreements.
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(Continued)
4. Financial Instruments and Related Risks

The main risks arising from the Series Trust’s financial instruments can be summarized as follows:

Market Risk

The Statement of Assets and Liabilities as of March 19, 2022, includes the fair value of debt securities
and contractual commitment arising from repurchase agreements owned by the Series Trust. These
investments involve exposure to market risk.

The Series Trust’s strategy for the assumption of and management of market risk is driven by the
investment objective, which is disclosed in Note 1.

The value of the Series Trust’s financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes in market
prices caused by factors other than interest rates or foreign currency movement.

During the year, a viral Covid-19 pandemic has continued to spread across the globe. It is causing very
significant financial market, economic and social dislocation globally, including very significant
disruption to business and economic activity. The economic disruption may significantly reduce the
value of many financial instruments including those held by the Series Trust. The ultimate extent of
the effect of this on the Series Trust is not possible to estimate at this time and will only be finally
determined on realization of investments.

On February 24, 2022, Russia launched a military invasion info Ukraine. Russia’s invasion of Ukraine
carries significant risks for a world economy that has yet to fully recover from the impacts of the
global Covid-19 pandemic. The impacts on the Series Trust of the consequential geo-political
instability, financial market volatility, inflation and imposition of sanctions on Russia are not possible
to forecast at this time.

Interest Rate Risk

Increases in interest rates typically lower the present value of the Series Trust’s future earnings stream.
Since the market price of a security changes continuously based upon the investors® collective
perceptions of future earnings, security prices will generally decline when investors anticipate or
experience rising interest rates.

Liguidity Risk
Liquidity risk represents the possibility that the Series Trust may not be able to rapidly adjust the size
of its investment position in times of high volatility and financial stress at a reasonable price.

The main liability of the Series Trust is the redemption of any Units that investors may wish to sell.
The Series Trust is exposed to daily cash redemptions of Redeemable Participating Units.

The liquidity of the Series Trust is a factor of the liquidity of the underlying investments. The Series
Trust’s assets mainly consist of readily realizable securities. In the opinion of the Manager this should
enable the payment of the Series Trust’s liabilities and any Unitholder's redemption of Redeemable
Participating Units.

In the opinion of the Investment Manager, the majority of assets of the Series Trust held at March 19,
2022, can be liquidated within one month in normal circumstances.
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{Continued)

4. Financial Instruments and Related Risks (continued)

Currency Risk
Since all of the investments and cash and cash equivalents of the Series Trust are denominated in the

functional currency of the Series Trust, the Statement of Assets and Liabilities and Statement of
Operations will not be significantly affected by currency movements.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is measured by the loss the Series Trust would record if its counterparties failed to perform
pursuant to the terms of their obligations to the Series Trust. The Trust will be exposed to credit risk on
parties with whom it trades and will also bear the risk of settlement default. In particular, the Series
Trust is exposed to credit risk with BBH, which has a Fitch credit rating of A+ and Akbank Malta
(Note 6) which has a Fitch credit rating of A+ (National Long Term Rating).

The Series Trust invests in debt securities. Adverse changes in the financial condition of the issuer, or
in general economic conditions, or both, or an unanticipated rise in interest rates, may impair the
ability of the issuer to make payments of interest and principal. The inability of issuers to make timely
payments of interest and principal may affect the value of securities held for the account of the Series
Trust. In the absence of a liquid trading market for certain securities it may not be possible to establish
the fair value of such securities in accordance with the valuation methodology of the Series Trust.
Furthermore, the credit risk of making such investments in emerging economies, generally tends to be
greater when compared to investing in developed countries.

As at March 19, 2022, the Series Trust invested in debt securities with the following credit quality:

Credit Rating TRY %
(TR) A+* 246,016,610 32.38
(TR) AA* 216,717,823 28.53
(TR) AA-* 168,919,319 22.24
(TR) AAA* 127,977,370 16.85
Total 759,631,122 100.00

* National long term rating (Fitch, S&P and Saha)

Repurchase and reverse repurchase transactions may include risks associated with the difference
between the valuations of the legs of such repurchase or reverse repurchase transactions. The price of
the collateral received or lent in such a transaction may adversely affect the Series Trust. In the event
of the failure of the relevant counterparty, inaccurate pricing, illiquidity of the relevant market in
which the collateral is traded and market movements may materially and adversely affect the
investment performance of the Series Trust. These effects may include, but are not limited to, a sudden
decrease in the NAV, delays in recovering cash, difficulties in realizing collateral and there may be
additional risks related to these effects.

The Trustee has appointed the Custodian, whose ultimate parent Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Holdings, Inc
has a JCR credit rating of AA-. The Custodian has in turn appointed the Sub-Custodian. Both the cash
and securities are ultimately held at the Sub-Custodian, with cash being held at the Sub-Custodian as
banker. The Series Trust’s securities are maintained by the Sub-Custodian in segregated accounts, thus
in the event of insolvency or bankruptcy of the Sub-Custodian, the Series Trust’s assets are segregated.
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4. Financial Instruments and Related Risks (continued)

5

Credit Risk {continued)

The Series Trust will, however, be exposed to the credit risk of the Sub-Custodian, or any depository
used by the Custodian or Sub-Custodian, in relation to the Series Trust’s cash. In the event of
insolvency or bankruptey of the Sub-Custodian, the Series Trust will be treated as a general creditor of
the Sub-Custodian in relation to cash holdings of the Series Trust.

An investment universe which lists all the ratings of eligible securities that the Series Trust has traded
in is maintained, and monitored daily to record rating changes by Fitch. Any rating changes are
reported to the [nvestment Manager.

Bankruptey or insolvency of the Sub-Custodian may cause the Series Trust rights with respect to its
investments in debt securities held by the bank to be delayed or limited.

Unit Capital

As a result of the ability to issue and redeem Units, the capital of the Series Trust can vary depending
on the demand for subscriptions and redemptions to/from the Series Trust. The minimum amount of
subscriptions or redemptions per Unitholder is one Unit and thereafter in one Unit increments.

Units are redeemable on each business day subject to the submission of a repurchase notice by no later
than 8am (Dublin time) on the relevant business day or such other deadline as the Investment Manager
may determine at the NAV per Unit prevailing at the close of business on the preceding valuation day,
failing which the repurchase request will be held over until the following dealing day and Units will be
redeemed at the repurchase price applicable for that dealing day.

The movements in the number of Units issued during the year ended March 19, 2022 are as follows:

Number of Units

Number of Units outstanding as at beginning of year 87,072,094,934
Number of Units issued 106,764,778,937
Number of Units redeemed (93,650,424,977)
Number of Units outstanding as at end of year 100,186,448.894

During the year ended March 19, 2022 distributions of TRY 144,006,838 were declared of which
TRY 110,647,772 was reinvested back into the Series Trust.

. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at March 19, 2022, is comprized of cash held with the Sub-Custodian and
deposits with maturities of 3 months or less held with Akbank Malta are as follows:

TRY
Cash - BBH 5,432,669
Deposit - Akbank Malta 86,719,559
Total 92,152,228
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7. Related Party Transactions

8.

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise
significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. In the opinion of
the Manager there were no transactions with related parties other than those in the normal course of
business. The Manager, Investment Manager, Sub-Investment Manager, Trustee and Akbank T.A.S.
which is the counterparty to the repurchase agreements and deposits and holds 52,912,805 Units in the
Series Trust, are deemed to be related to the Series Trust. The Series Trust has deposits of
TRY86,719,559 with Akbank Malta (Note 6). Fees incurred with related parties during the year are
disclosed in the Statement of Operations and Note 8. Amounts payable to related parties at the year end
are disclosed in the Statement of Assets and Liabilities and Note 8.

Three other investors hold an investment of 20.67%, 13.07%, and 10.22% respectively in the Series
Trust. As a result, any actions of these related parties can materially impact the Series Trust.

Fees and Expenses

The Manager receives out of the assets of the Series Trust a fee at the rate of 0.025% per annum of the
NAV, accrued on and calculated as at each valuation day and payable in US Dollars monthly in arrears,
subject to a minimum fee of TRY40,000 per calendar year.

The Trustee receives out of the assets of the Series Trust a fee at the rate of 0.04% per annum of the
NAYV, accrued on and calculated as at each valuation day and payable in Euro monthly in arrears,
subject to a minimum fee of TRY43,000 per calendar vear.,

The Investment Manager receives out of the assets of the Series Trust a fee at the rate of 0.30% per
annum of the NAV, accrued on and calculated as at each valuation day and payable in Japanese Yen
monthly in arrears.

The Sub-Investment Manager receives a fee at the rate of 0.55% per annum of the NAV, accrued on and
calculated as at each valuation day and payable in TRY monthly in arrears.

The Administrator receives out of the assets of the Series Trust a fee at the rate of 0.08% per annum of
the NAV, accrued on and calculated as at each valuation day and payable in Euro monthly in arrears,
subject to a minimum fee of TRY8,900 per month. The Administrator will also be paid an audit
assistance fee of an amount equivalent in Euro to TRY$,900. In addition, the Administrator will also be
paid a fee of TRY270 in respect of each new Unitholder and a fee of TRY45 for each update of the
Register that it is required to undertake. The Administrator is also reimbursed for any reasonable out-of-
pocket expenses necessarily incurred in the performance of its duties.

The Custodian receives out of the assets of the Series Trust a fee at the rate of 0.12% per annum of the
NAYV, accrued on and calculated as at each valuation day and payable in US Dollars monthly in arrears,
subject to a minimum fee in US Dollars of an amount equivalent to TRY2,100 per month. The
Custodian is also reimbursed for any reasonable out-of-pocket expenses necessarily incurred in the
performance of its duties.

21

100/235



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended March 19, 2022
(Continued)

8. Fees and Expenses (continued)

The distributors receive out of the assets of the Series Trust a fee at the rate of 0.35% per annum of the
NAYV, accrued on and calculated as at each valuation day and payable in Japanese Yen monthly in
arrears. As at year end, there were 30 distributors to the Series Trust.

The Agent Company receives out of the assets of the Series Trust a fee at the rate of 0.10% per annum
of the NAV, accrued on and calculated as at each valuation day and payable in Japanese Yen monthly

in arrears.

The fees payable as at March 19, 2022 are as follows:

TRY

Investment Manager fees 181,005
Sub-Investment Manager fees 331,842
Distributors and Agent Company fees 271,120
Manager fees 15,084
Administration fees 80,112
Custodian fees 359,931
Trustee fees 24,134
Audit fees 340,318
Other fees and expenses 693,106
2,296,652

9. Receivables from Repurchase Agreements

Repurchase agreements involve the purchase of securities by the Series Trust with an agreement by the
Series Trust to resell the securities at an agreed upon price, date and interest payment. Repurchase
agreements involve the credit risk that the counterparty to the repurchase agreement may default. As at
March 19, 2022, securities purchased under agreements to resell amounting to TRY314,000,000 are
collateralized principally by municipal bonds and Turkish agency bonds.

The Series Trust monitors collateral market values relative to the amounts due under the agreements,
including accrued interest, throughout the lives of the agreements, and when necessary, requires
transfer of cash or securities in order to manage exposure and liquidity. In connection with such
agreements, if the counterparty defaults or enters an insolvency proceeding, realization or return of the
collateral to the Series Trust may be delayed or limited.

As at March 19, 2022, the securities purchased under agreements to resell mature on or before March
23, 2022 and the interest applicable is 13.70%.
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10. Offsetting Assets and Liabilities

As of March 19, 2022, the Series Trust holds repurchase agreements that are eligible for offset in the
Statement of Assets and Liabilities. The repurchase arrangement allows the Series Trust to net any
receivables against collateral held.

The table below provides disclosure regarding the potential effect of offsetting of recognized assets
presented in the Statement of Assets and Liabilities and Statement of Changes in Net Assets:

Related amounts not offset in the

March 19, 2022 Statement of Assets and Liabilities
Gross Net Amounts
Amounts of Recognized

Gross Offset in the Assets
Amounts  Statement Presented in
of of Assets the Statement Financial
Recognized and of Assets and Financial Collateral Net
Description Assets  Liabilities Liabilities Instruments Received (a) amount
TRY TRY TRY TRY TRY TRY
Receivables
from
Repurchase
Agreements 314,000,000 - 314,000,000 - 314,000,000 -
314,000,000 - 314,000,000 - 314,000,000 -

(a) Amounts related to master netting agreements and collateral agreements determined by the Series
Trust to be legally enforceable in the event of any default, but certain other criteria are not met in
accordance with applicable offsetting accounting guidance. The collateral amounts may exceed the
related net amounts of financial assets and liabilities presented in the Statement of Assets and Liabilities,
if this is the case, the total amount reported is limited to net amounts of financial assets and liabilities
with that counterparty.

As at March 19, 2022, there are no recognized liabilities presented in the Statement of Assets and
Liabilities that are subject to offsetting.

11. Reconciliation of the Dealing NAV to NAV per Financial Statements

2022

TRY
Reported NAV 1,002,109,089
Trade date adjustment (244,538)
NAYV attributable to Holders of Units per Financial Statements 1,001,864,551
Number of Units per Reported NAV 100,210,902,641
Trade date adjustment (24,453,747)
Number of Units per Financial Statements 100,186,448,894
Reported NAV per Unit 0.01
NAYV per Unit per Financial Statements 0.01
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(Continued)
Reconciliation of the Dealing NAV to NAV per Financial Statements (continued)
For Unitholder dealing purposes, transactions are accounted for on a trade date plus | business day
basis. For financial reporting purposes, transactions are accounted for on a trade date basis. Transactions

occurring between close of business on the last trade date and the financial reporting year end date have
required an adjustment of (TRY244,538).

Subsequent Events

The Manager has performed a subsequent review from March 19, 2022 through to August 19, 2022
being the date that the financial statements were available to be issued. From March 19, 2022 through to
August 19, 2022 investors subscribed TRY414,782,614 into the Series Trust and redeemed
TRY293,241,953 capital from the Series Trust.

The Manager concluded that there were no other subsequent events which required additional disclosure
in these financial statements.
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Fair

Cost Value % of
Debt Securities TRY TRY NAV
Turkey
Ak Yatirim Menkul Deg As 0% 29-Mar-22 28,895,100 29,884,562 2.98
Ak Yatirim Menkul Deg As 0% 22-Apr-22 38,490,400 39,367,600 3.93
Ak Yatirim Menkul Deg As 0% 10-May-22 9,592,600 9,762,350 0.97
Akbank T.A.S 0% 11-Apr-22 20,480,470 21,287,598 2.12
Akbank T.A.S 0% 20-May-22 12,567,726 13,016,374 1.30
Garanti Faktoring As 0% 18-May-22 17,203,680 17,506,628 1.75
Garanti Faktoring As 0% 31-May-22 12,474,020 12,566,840 1.25
Hazine Mustesarligi Varl 9.4% 11-May-22 65,168,400 65,505,000 6.54
Is Finansal Kiralama As 0% 22-Apr-22 34,990,881 36,057,615 3.60
Is Finansal Kiralama As 0% 14-Jun-22 34,372,560 34,935,940 3.49
[s Yatirim Menkul Degerl 0% 06-May-22 48,548,000 48,962,857 4.88
Qnb Finansbank As Turkey 0% 25-Mar-22 28,783,800 29,949,325 2.99
Qnb Finansbank As Turkey 0% 25-Mar-22 9,642,300 9,983,491 1.00
Qnb Finansbank As Turkey 0% 22-Apr-22 38,422,000 39,360,523 3.93
Turkey Government Bond 0% 13-Apr-22 8,284,185 8,426,955 0.84
Turkey Government Bond 0% 15-Jun-22 63,598,510 66,178,184 6.61
Turkey Government Bond 10.7% 17-Aug-22 28,254,000 28,809,180 2.88
Turkiye Garanti Bankasi 0% 29-Apr-22 50,993,250 54,129,962 5.40
Turkiye Is Bankasi As 0% 26-Apr-22 9,568,000 0,817,831 0.98
Turkiye Is Bankasi As 0% 09-May-22 19,188,200 19,530,525 1.95
Turkiye Vakiflar Bankasi 0% 03-Jun-22 52,744,750 53,221,054 5.31
Yapi Kredi Yat Men 0% 18-May-22 33,050,850 34,164,650 341
Yapi Kredi Yat Men 0% 08-Jun-22 29,387,575 29,562,565 2.95
Yapi Kredi Yat Men 0% 15-Jun-22 9,956,100 10,079,714 1.01
Yapi Ve Kredi Bankasi As 0% [0-May-22 36,567,000 37,563,799 3.75
Investments in Debt Securities, at fair value 741,224,357 759,631,122 75.82
Receivable from Repurchase Agreements
Malta
TRT030523T13 22-Mar-22 13.70% AKM 157,000,000 157,000,000 15.67
TRT030523T13 23-Mar-22 13.70% AKM 157,000,000 157,000,000 15.67
Total Receivables from Repurchase Agreements 314,000,000 314,000,000 31.34
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(Continued)
Fair
Cost Value % of
Deposits (less than 3 months) TRY TRY NAV
Malta
FDTRY Akbank Malta 17% 24-Mar-22 86,719,559 86,719,559 8.66
Total Deposits (less than 3 months) 86,719,559 36,719,559 8.66
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) 2021 19
2021 19
512,894,351 ) 3 521,179,703 4,263,249,971
6 107,506,038 879,399,391
9 10 478,000,000 3,910,040,000
8,854,873 72,432,861
10,557,823 86,362,992
1,126,098,437 9,211,485,215
241,000,000 1,971,380,000
4,690,844 38,371,104
7,904,143 64,655,890
8 1,782,477 14,580,662
255,377,464 2,088,987,656
11 870,720,973 7,122,497,559
( )

87,072,094,934

) 5 11 0.01 0.08
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1 2021

2021 19

2021
51,811,625 423,819,093
35,108,482 287,187,383
86,920,107 711,006,475
7 8 2,315,664 18,942,132
7 8 4,245,385 34,727,249
8 3,470,933 28,392,232
7 8 192,972 1,578,511
8 851,342 6,963,978
8 927,388 7,586,034
7 8 308,755 2,525,616
239,744 1,961,106
1,177,336 9,630,608
3,130 25,603
13,732,649 112,333,069
73,187,458 598,673,406
(21,836) (178,618)

73,165,622 598,494,788
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19
764,811,580 6,256,158,724
73,165,622 598,494,788
(73,165,630) (598,494 ,853)
1,088,288,230 8,902,197,721
(982,378,829) (8,035,858,821)
870,720,973 7,122,497,559
19
73,165,622 598,494,788

(1,887,923,843)

(53,306,500,000)
1,835,173,092
53,285,500,000
21,836

(9,343,880)
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593,385 4,853,889
« ) (9,313,788) (76,186,786)

5 1,036,853,140 8,481,458,685
5 (987,311,369) (8,076,206,998)
5 (16,176,839) (132,326,543)

« ) 33,364,932 272,925,144
24,051,144 196,738,358

83,454,894 682,661,033

107,506,038 879,399,391

42,467,745 347,386,154
(3,130) (25,603)

2021 19
2021

0.01 0.08

0.0009 0.01

0.0009 0.01

(0.0009) (0.01)
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2021 19
1 2 3

521,179,703 521,179,703

478,000,000 478,000,000

999,179,703 999,179,703
( )

110
2021 19

531,700,828

2021 19
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123,721,260 23.74
27,049,757 5.19
248,586,342 47.70
121,822,344 23.37
521,179,703 100.00
)
)
2021 19
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2021 19

76,481,154,853
108, 828,823,019
(98,237,882,938)

87,072,094,934

2021 19 73,165,630
53,058,574

2021 19

2021 19

- 3,747,036
- 103,759,002

107,506,038

- - (
45,403,343 )

( ) 103,759,002

19.85 11.38
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20,291
226,879
188,499
361,034
1,782,477
2021 19
« )
2021 19
478,000,000
19 2021 22
16.26
19
()
478,000,000 478,000,000 478,000,000
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2021 19

2021 19

11
2021

866,556,944
4,164,029
870,720,973

86,655,691,956

416,402,978

87,072,094,934

1 0.01
1 0.01

4,164,029

12
2021 19 2021
2021
313,974,037 262,344,683
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Statement of Assets and Liabilities
As at March 19, 2021

2021

Note TRY
Assets
Investment in debt securities, at fair value
(Cost: TRY512,894,351) 3 521,179,703
Cash and cash equivalents 6 107,506,038
Receivables from repurchase agreements 9,10 478,000,000
Subscriptions receivable 8,854,873
Interest receivable 10,557,823
Total Assets 1,126,098,437
Liabilities
Payable for investments purchased 241,000,000
Redemptions payable 4,690,844
Distributions payable 7,904,143
Other payables 3 1,782,477
Total Liabilities 255,377,464
Net Assets 11 870,720,973
Net Asset Value (“NAV”) per Unit
(based on 87,072,094,934 units outstanding) 5,11 TRY0.01

The accompanying notes and schedules form an integral part of these financial statements.

Signed on behalf of the Trustee:
DocuSigned by: DocuSigned by:
COBEZ220B2 E?_E.’zEEtGDﬂ&FHG..
Date: Septesr"ﬁ%%r 2,2021
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Statement of Operations
For the year ended March 19, 2021

2021

Note TRY
Investment income
Interest income 51,811,625
Accretion of acquisition discount 35,108,482
Total investment income 86,920,107
Expenses
Investment Manager fees 7.8 2,315,664
Sub-Investment Manager fees 7.8 4,245 385
Distributors and Agent Company fees 8 3,470,933
Manager fees 7.8 192,972
Administration fees R 851,342
Custodian fees g 927,388
Trustee fees 7.8 308,755
Audit fees 239,744
Other fees and expenses 1,177,336
Interest expense 3,130
Total expenses 13,732,649
Net investment income 73,187,458
Net realized loss on investments (21,836)
Net increase in Net Assets resulting from operations 73,165,622

The accompanying notes and schedules form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Statement of Changes in Net Assets
For the year ended March 19, 2021

2021

TRY
Net Assets at beginning of year 764,811,580
Net increase in Net Assets resulting from operations 73,165,622
Distributions to Unitholders (73,165,630)
Units issued (108,828,823,019 units) 1,088,288,230
Units redeemed (98,237,882,938 units) (982,378,829)
Net Assets at end of year 870,720,973

The accompanying notes and schedules form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended March 19, 2021

Cash flows from operating activities
Net increase in Net Assets resulting from operations

Adjustments to reconcile net increase in Net Assets

resulting from operations to net cash used in operating activities:

Payments for purchase of debt securities

Payments for purchase of repurchase agreements
Proceeds from sale of debt securities

Proceeds from settlement of repurchase agreements
Net realized loss on investments

Increase in interest receivable

Increase in other payables

Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of Units
Payments for redemption of Units
Distributions paid

Net cash provided by financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
Supplementary information:

Interest received
Interest paid

Note

Ln Lh

2021
TRY

73,165,622

(1,887,923,843)

(53,306,500,000)
1,835,173,092
53,285,500,000
21,836

(9,343,880)
593,385

(9,313,788)

1,036,853,140
(987,311,369)
(16,176,839)

33,364,932

24,051,144
83,454,894

107,506,038

42,467,745
(3.130)

The accompanying notes and schedules form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Financial Highlights
For the year ended March 19, 2021

2021
TRY
Per Unit operating performance:
NAYV per Unit, beginning of year 0.01
Income from investment operations (B)
Net investment income 0.0009
Total income from investment operations 0.0009
Less distributions (0.0009)
NAYV per Unit, end of year 0.01
Ratios/supplemental data:
Ratio of total expenses to average Net Assets (A) (1.76)%
Ratio of net investment income to average Net Assets (A) 9.36%
Total Return (A) 9.35%

(A) Total return is calculated based on the change in NAV during the vear. This return includes the
return associated with the distributed amount. Expense ratio and net investment income ratio are
calculated based on the average Net Assets outstanding throughout the year. The financial
highlights are reflected after all investment-related and operating expenses.

(B) Results vary based upon participation in certain investments, fee arrangements and timing of
capital transactions. Per Unit information is calculated based upon the monthly average Units
outstanding during the year.

11
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Notes to the Financial Statements
March 19, 2021

1. Description of the Trust

Turkish Lira Money Market Fund (the “Series Trust™) is a series trust of Multi Strategies Fund (the
“Trust™). The Trust is an open-ended umbrella unit trust constituted by a master trust deed dated June
10, 2013 and made between the Trustee and the Manager. The Trust has been constituted as an
umbrella unit trust under the Trusts Act of the Cayman Islands and registered under the Mutual Funds
Act of the Cayman Islands on June 18, 2013. A separate portfolio or series trust can be created and
established to which assets and liabilities attributable to the relevant series trust will be applied. The
Master Trust Deed is governed by the laws of the Cayman Islands.

As at March 19, 2021 there were two series trusts of the Trust including the Series Trust, which
commenced operations on September 24, 2013. The other series trust prepares a separate set of audited
financial statements. These financial statements comprise only the accounts of the Series Trust.

The investment objective of the Series Trust is to preserve principal value and maintain a high degree
of liquidity while providing current income by investing in Turkish Lira denominated short term
financial instruments, including but not limited to government bonds, corporate bonds, certificates of
deposit, asset backed securities, bank deposits and repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements.

International Management Services Ltd. (the “Manager”) is the Manager, Sompo Asset Management
Co., Ltd. (the “Investment Manager™) is the Investment Manager, Ak Portfoy Yonetimi A.S. (the
“Sub-Investment Manager”) is the Sub-Investment Manager and Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank,
Limited (London Branch) (the “Custodian™) is the Custodian. The administration of the Series Trust is
delegated to SMT Fund Services (Ireland) Limited (the “Administrator™).

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The financial statements are prepared in conformity with US generally accepted accounting principals
(“US GAAP™). The preparation of financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires the
Manager to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

The financial statements have been prepared in Turkish Lira (“*TRY™), which is the Series Trust’s
functional currency.

The Series Trust is considered an investment company under US GAAP and follows the accounting
and reporting guidance applicable to investment companies in the Financial Accounting Standards

Board (“FASB™) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC™) Topic 946, Financial Services -
Investment Companies.

12
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Notes to the Financial Statements

March 19, 2021
(Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

In the opinion of the Investment Manager, the Series Trust possesses the fundamental characteristics of
an investment company because the following conditions exist:

i. The Series Trust obtains funds from investors and provides those investors with investment
management services.

ii. The business purpose and only substantive activities, which were communicated to investors, are
investing solely for returns from capital appreciation and investment income.

iii. The Series Trust has identified exit strategies for the investments it holds for returns from capital
appreciation.

iv. The Series Trust does not have an objective of obtaining results or benefits other than capital
appreciation and investment income from its investments.

In the opinion of the Investment Manager, the Series Trust also possesses the typical characteristics of
an investment company:

i. The Series Trust holds more than one investment.

ii. The Series Trust is funded by multiple investors.

iii. The Series Trust has investors that hold a significant interest in the Series Trust and are not related
to the Investment Manager.

iv. Ownership in the Series Trust is represented by equity interests acquired through capital
contributions.

v. The Series Trust manages and evaluates performance of investments on a fair value basis.

Use of estimates

Preparing financial statements in accordance with US GAAP requires management to make estimates
and assumptions in determining the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, including fair value of
investments set out in Note 3. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Valuation of investments

Investments consist of corporate bonds, government bonds, deposits and repurchase agreements. Debt
securities such as corporate bonds and government bonds with a remaining maturity of less than one
year are valued at fair value using an amortized cost technique (i.e. at their acquisition cost as adjusted
for the amortization of premium or accretion of discount) as the best estimate of fair value. The
Manager, through its delegates, continuously reviews the amortized cost method to ensure that
investments are stated at their fair market value. When the Series Trust purchases a financial asset and
simultaneously enters into an agreement to resell the asset at a fixed price on a future date (“repurchase
agreement™), the arrangement is accounted for as a receivable (“receivables from repurchase
agreements™), and the underlying asset is not recognized on the Series Trust’s financial statements.

When the Series Trust sells a financial asset and simultaneously enters into an agreement to repurchase
the same asset at a fixed price on a future date, the agreement is accounted for as borrowings
(“payables under repurchase agreements™), and the underlying asset is not derecognized in the Series
Trust’s financial statements. Receivables and payables from repurchase agreements are initially
measured at fair value less incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently measured at
amortized cost, using the effective interest method.

13
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Notes to the Financial Statements

March 19, 2021
(Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Valuation of investments (continued)

Investment transactions are accounted for on a trade date basis. At vear end, all investments are valued
as at March 18, 2021, due to March 19, 2021 being a non-business day in accordance with the Series
Trust’s Appendix to the Trust’s Offering Memorandum.

Realized gains and losses and movements in unrealized gains and losses are recognized in the
Statement of Operations and determined on a first-in-first-out basis. Movements in fair value are
recorded in the Statement of Operations at each valuation date.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes highly liquid investments, such as money market funds, that are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash within 90 days from the date of purchase. All cash
balances are held at major banking and broker institutions.

Cash and other liquid assets are valued at their face value with coupon interest receivable accrued,
where applicable, to the end of the relevant day.

The Series Trust does not hold any restricted cash at the year end or during the year.

Investment income
Interest income is accounted for on an effective yield basis. Discounts and premiums on securities are
amortized and accreted on the effective yield basis over the life of the respective securities.

Expenses
Expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis.

Foreign exchange transactions

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into TRY at the closing rates of
exchange on March 18, 2021, due to March 19, 2021 being a non-business day, with foreign currency
gains and losses reflected in the Statement of Operations. Purchases and sales of securities and income
and expenses are translated at the prevailing rate of exchange on the respective dates of such
transactions. Unrealized gains and losses are calculated by comparing the fair value of the investments
to the prices at which those assets were originally purchased.

The Series Trust does not isolate that portion of the results of operations resulting from changes in
foreign exchange rates on investments from the fluctuations arising from changes in the market prices
of securities. Such fluctuations are included in net realized loss on investments in the Statement of
Operations.

Receivables from repurchase agreements
Transactions involving repurchase agreements are treated as collateralized financing transactions and

are recorded at their contracted resell amounts. Interest on transactions is included in interest
receivable in the Statement of Assets and Liabilities.
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Notes to the Financial Statements
March 19, 2021

(Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Offsetting assets and liabilities

The Series Trust is required to disclose the impact of offsetting assets and liabilities represented in the
Statement of Assets and Liabilities to enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the effect or
potential effect of netting arrangements on its financial position for recognized assets and liabilities.
These recognized assets and liabilities are financial instruments and derivative instruments that are
either subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement or meet the following
right of set-off criteria: the amounts owed by the Series Trust to another party are determinable, the
Series Trust has the right to set-off the amounts owed with the amounts owed by the other party, the
Series Trust intends to set-off, and the Series Trust’s right of set-off is enforceable at law.

Taxation

The Series Trust is a Cayman Islands exempted Trust. Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands,
there are no income, estate, transfer, sale or other taxes payable by the Series Trust. The Series Trust
trades stocks and securities for its own account and, as such, is generally not subject to U.S. tax on
such earnings (other than certain withholding taxes indicated below). The Investment Manager intends
to conduct the business of the Series Trust to the maximum extent practicable so that the Series Trust’s
activities do not constitute a U.S. trade or business. Interest and other income realized by the Series
Trust from non-U.S. sources and capital gains realized on the sale of securities of non-U.S. issuers may
be subject to withholding and other taxes levied by the jurisdiction in which the income is sourced. In
accordance with the Trusts Act (2011 Revision), the Trust has received an undertaking exempting it
from all local taxes for a period of 50 years from the date of creation of the Trust.

ASC 740, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes”, clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in
income taxes recognized in the Series Trust’s financial statements. ASC 740 prescribes a recognition
threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax
position taken or expected to be taken in a tax refurn. ASC 740 requires that the enterprise determines
whether it is more likely than not that a fax position will be sustained upon examination, including
resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits of the position.
In evaluating whether a tax position has met the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, the
enterprise should presume that the position will be examined by the appropriate taxing authority that
has full knowledge of all relevant information. A tax position that meets the more-likely-than-not
recognition threshold is measured to determine the amount of benefit to recognize in the financial
statements. The tax position is measured at the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likely
of being realized upon settlement.

The Investment Manager has analyzed the Series Trust’s tax positions and has concluded that no
liability for unrecognized tax benefits should be recorded related to uncertain tax positions.
Furthermore, the Investment Manager is not aware of any tax positions for which it is reasonably
possible that the total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits will significantly change in the next twelve
months.

Guarantees and/or Indemnifications
In the normal course of business the Series Trust enters into contracts that contain a variety of
representations, which provide general indemnifications. The Series Trust’s maximum exposure under
these arrangements is unknown, as this would involve future claims that may be made against the
Series Trust that have not vet occurred. However, based on experience, the Series Trust expects the
risk of loss to be remote.
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Notes to the Financial Statements

March 19, 2021
(Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Distribution policy

The Manager, through its delegates, declares distributions on each dealing day. The amount per Unit
distributed is a sum equal to the amount required to maintain the relevant NAV per Unit on each
dealing day at TRY0.01. Distributions payable are recognized in the Statement of Changes in Net
Assets when declared.

Classification of redemptions

ASC 480, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Both Liabilities and
Equity, recognizes redemptions as liabilities, when the amount requested in the redemption notice
becomes fixed. This generally may occur at the time of the receipt of the notice, or on the last day of a
fiscal year, depending on the nature of the request. As a result, redemptions paid after the end of the
year, but based upon year end capital balances are reflected as redemptions payable at March 19, 2021.

Recent accounting pronouncements

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13 which amends the fair value measurement disclosure
requirements of ASC 820. The new guidance changes the disclosure requirements in relation to Level
3 investments. As the Series Trust does not hold any Level 3 investments this has not had any impact
on the Series Trust.

3. Fair Value Measurements

Financial instruments are recorded at fair value. Fair value is defined as the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (i.e., the “exit price™) in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.

A fair value hierarchy of inputs is used in measuring fair value that maximizes the use of observable
inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the most observable inputs be
used when available. Observable inputs are those that market participants would use in pricing the
asset or liability based on market data obtained from sources independent of the Series Trust.
Unobservable inputs reflect the Series Trust’s assumptions about the inputs market participants would
use in pricing the asset or liability developed based on the best information available in the
circumstances.

The fair value hierarchy is categorized into three levels based on the inputs as follows:

- Level 1 — Inputs that reflect unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the Series Trust has the ability to access at the measurement date;

- Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or
indirectly, including inputs in markets that are not considered to be active;

- Level 3 — Inputs that are unobservable.

Inputs are used in applying the various valuation techniques and broadly refer to the assumptions that
market participants use to make valuation decisions, including assumptions about risk. A financial
instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is
significant to the fair value measurement. The Manager considers observable data to be that market
data which is readily available, regularly distributed or updated, reliable and verifiable, not proprietary
and provided by independent sources that are actively involved in the relevant market.
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Notes to the Financial Statements

March 19, 2021
(Continued)

3. Fair Value Measurements (continued)

The categorization of a financial instrument within the hierarchy is based upon the pricing
transparency of the instrument and does not necessarily correspond to the Manager’s perceived risk of
that instrument.

Investments whose values are based on quoted market prices in active markets are classified within
Level 1. The Series Trust did not hold any Level 1 investments at March 19, 2021.

Investments that trade in markets that are not considered to be active, but are valued based on quoted
market prices, dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources supported by observable inputs are
classified within Level 2. As Level 2 investments include positions that are not traded in active
markets and/or are subject to transfer restrictions, valuations may be adjusted to reflect illiquidity
and/or non-transferability, which are generally based on available market information. Debt securities
are valued using an amortized cost technique and are classified as Level 2.

Investments classified within Level 3 have significant unobservable inputs, as they trade infrequently
or not at all. The Series Trust did not hold any Level 3 investments at March 19, 2021.

The following table presents the investments of the Series Trust measured at fair value within the fair
valuation hierarchy as of March 19, 2021:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
TRY TRY TRY TRY
Assets
Debt securities - 521,179,703 - 521,179,703
Receivables from repurchase
agreements - 478,000,000 - 478,000,000
- 999,179,703 - 999,179,703

All securities are classified as Level 2. There were no transfers of assets between levels during the
year.

Repurchase agreements involve the purchase of a security from a counterparty, with an obligation of
the Series Trust to resell the security to the counterparty at a contracted price on maturity. In
connection with its repurchase agreements, it is the Series Trust’s policy that its Custodian, acting on
behalf of the Series Trust, take possession of the underlying collateral securities, the fair value of
which, at all times, to be least 110% of the principal amount of the repurchase agreements, including
accrued interest. If the counterparty defaults under repurchase agreements, and the fair value of the
collateral declines, the realization of the collateral by the Series Trust may be delayed or limited.

At March 19, 2021, the Series Trust received collateral consisting of government bonds, with a fair
value of TRY531,700,828 for its repurchase agreements. The Series Trust is not permitted to sell or
repledge collateral received in connection with its repurchase agreements.
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Notes to the Financial Statements

March 19, 2021
(Continued)

4. Financial Instruments and Related Risks

The main risks arising from the Series Trust’s financial instruments can be summarized as follows:

Market Risk

The Statement of Assets and Liabilities as of March 19, 2021, includes the fair value of debt securities
and contractual commitment arising from repurchase agreements owned by the Series Trust. These
investments involve exposure to market risk.

The value of the Series Trust’s financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes in market
prices caused by factors other than interest rates or foreign currency movement.

During the year, a viral Covid-19 pandemic has spread across the globe. It is causing very significant
financial market, economic and social dislocation globally, including very significant disruption to
business and economic activity. The economic disruption may significantly reduce the value of many
financial instruments including those held by the Series Trust. The ultimate extent of the effect of this
on the Series Trust is not possible to estimate at this time and will only be finally determined on
realization of investments.

Interest Rate Risk

Increases in interest rates typically lower the present value of the Series Trust’s future earnings stream.
Since the market price of a security changes continuously based upon the investors’ collective
perceptions of future earnings, security prices will generally decline when investors anticipate or
experience rising interest rates.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk represents the possibility that the Series Trust may not be able to rapidly adjust the size
of its investment position in times of high volatility and financial stress at a reasonable price.

The main liability of the Series Trust is the redemption of any Units that investors may wish to sell.
The Series Trust is exposed to daily cash redemptions of Redeemable Participating Units.

The liquidity of the Series Trust is a factor of the liquidity of the underlying investments. The Series
Trust’s assets mainly consist of readily realizable securities. In the opinion of the Manager this should
enable the payment of the Series Trust’s liabilities and any Unitholder’s redemption of Redeemable
Participating Units.

In the opinion of the Investment Manager, the majority of assets of the Series Trust held at March 19,
2021, can be liquidated within one month in normal circumstances.

Currency Risk
Since all of the investments and cash and cash equivalents of the Series Trust are denominated in the

functional currency of the Series Trust, the Statement of Assets and Liabilities and Statement of
Operations will not be affected by currency movements and as a result, a sensitivity analysis has not
been performed.
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4. Financial Instruments and Related Risks (continued)

Credit Risk

Credit risk is measured by the loss the Series Trust would record if its counterparties failed to perform
pursuant to the terms of their obligations to the Series Trust. The Trust will be exposed to credit risk on
parties with whom it trades and will also bear the risk of settlement default. In particular, the Series
Trust is exposed to credit risk with Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. (“BBH & Co.”) (the “Sub-
Custodian™), which has a Fitch credit rating of A+ and Akbank Malta (Note 6) which has a Fitch credit
rating of A+,

The Series Trust invests in debt securities. Adverse changes in the financial condition of the issuer, or
in general economic conditions, or both, or an unanticipated rise in interest rates, may impair the
ability of the issuer to make payments of interest and principal. The inability of issuers to make timely
payments of interest and principal may affect the value of securities held for the account of the Series
Trust. In the absence of a liquid trading market for certain securities it may not be possible to establish
the fair value of such securities in accordance with the valuation methodology of the Series Trust.
Furthermore, the credit risk of making such investments in emerging economies, generally tends to be
greater when compared to investing in developed countries.

As at March 19, 2021, the Series Trust invested in debt securities with the following credit quality:

Credit Rating

TRY %
(TR) A+* 123,721,260 23.74
(TR) AA* 27,049,757 5.19
(TR) AA+* 248,586,342 47.70
(TR) AAA* 121,822,344 23.37
Total 521,179,703 100.00

* National long term rating (Fitch, S&P and Saha)

Repurchase and reverse repurchase transactions may include risks associated with the difference
between the valuations of the legs of such repurchase or reverse repurchase transactions. The price of
the collateral received or lent in such a transaction may adversely affect the Series Trust. In the event
of the failure of the relevant counterparty, inaccurate pricing, illiquidity of the relevant market in
which the collateral is traded and market movements may materially and adversely affect the
investment performance of the Series Trust. These effects may include, but are not limited to, a sudden
decrease in the NAV, delays in recovering cash, difficulties in realizing collateral and there may be
additional risks related to these effects.

The Trustee has appointed the Custodian, whose ultimate parent Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Holdings, Inc
has a JCR credit rating of AA-. The Custodian has in turn appointed the Sub-Custodian. Both the cash
& securities are ultimately held at the Sub-Custodian, with cash being held at the Sub-Custodian as
banker. The Series Trust’s securities are maintained by the Sub-Custodian in segregated accounts, thus
in the event of insolvency or bankruptey of the Sub-Custodian, the Series Trust’s assets are segregated.
The Series Trust will, however, be exposed to the credit risk of the Sub-Custodian, or any depository
used by the Custodian or Sub-Custodian, in relation to the Series Trust’s cash. In the event of
insolvency or bankruptcy of the Sub-Custodian, the Series Trust will be treated as a general creditor of
the Sub-Custodian in relation to cash holdings of the Series Trust.
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4. Financial Instruments and Related Risks (continued)

Credit Risk (continued)

An investment universe which lists all the ratings of eligible securities that the Series Trust has traded
in is maintained, and monitored daily to record rating changes by Fitch. Any rating changes are
reported to the Investment Manager.

Bankruptcy or insolvency of the Sub-Custodian may cause the Series Trust rights with respect to its
investments in debt securities held by the bank to be delayed or limited.

5. Unit Capital

As a result of the ability to issue and redeem Units, the capital of the Series Trust can vary depending
on the demand for subscriptions and redemptions to/from the Series Trust. The minimum amount of
subscriptions or redemptions per Unitholder is one Unit and thereafter in one Unit increments.

Units are redeemable on each business day subject to the submission of a repurchase notice by no later
than 8am (Dublin time) on the relevant business day or such other deadline as the Investment Manager
may determine at the NAV per unit prevailing at the close of business on the preceding valuation day,
failing which the repurchase request will be held over until the following dealing day and Units will be
redeemed at the repurchase price applicable for that dealing day.

The movements in the number of Units issued during the year ended March 19, 2021 are as follows:

Number of Units
Number of Units outstanding as at beginning of year 76,481,154,853
Number of Units issued 108,828.823,019
Number of Units redeemed (98,237,882,938)
Number of Units outstanding as at end of year 87,072,094,934

During the year ended March 19, 2021 distributions of TRY73,165,630 were declared of which
TRY 53,058,574 was reinvested back into the Series Trust.

6. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at March 19, 2021, is comprized of cash held with the Sub-Custodian and
deposits with maturities of 3 months or less held with Akbank Malta are as follows:

TRY
Cash - BBH & Co. 3,747,036
Deposit - Akbank Malta 103,759,002
Total 107,506,038
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(Continued)

7. Related Party Transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise
significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. In the opinion of
the Manager there were no transactions with related parties other than those in the normal course of
business. The Manager, Investment Manager, Sub-Investment Manager, Trustee and Akbank T.A.S.
which is the counterparty to the repurchase agreements and deposits and holds 45,403,343 Units in the
Series Trust, are deemed to be related to the Series Trust. The Series Trust has deposits of
TRY103,759,002 with Akbank Malta (Note 6). Fees incurred with related parties during the year are
disclosed in the Statement of Operations and in Note 8. Amounts payable to related parties at the year
end are disclosed in the Statement of Assets and Liabilities and in Note 8.

Two other investors hold an investment of 19.85%, and 11.38% respectively in the Series Trust. As a
result, any actions of these related parties can materially impact the Series Trust.

8. Fees and Expenses

The Manager receives out of the assets of the Series Trust a fee at the rate of 0.025% per annum of the
NAV, accrued on and calculated as at each valuation day and payable in US Dollars monthly in arrears,
subject to a minimum fee of TRY40,000 per calendar year.

The Trustee receives out of the assets of the Series Trust a fee at the rate of 0.04% per annum of the
NAV, accrued on and calculated as at each valuation day and payable in Euro monthly in arrears,
subject to a minimum fee of TRY43,000 per calendar year.

The Investment Manager receives out of the assets of the Series Trust a fee at the rate of 0.30% per
annum of the NAV, accrued on and calculated as at each valuation day and payable in Japanese Yen
monthly in arrears.

The Sub-Investment Manager receives a fee at the rate of 0.55% per annum of the NAV, accrued on and
calculated as at each valuation day and payable in TRY monthly in arrears.

The Administrator receives out of the assets of the Series Trust a fee at the rate of 0.08% per annum of
the NAV, accrued on and calculated as at each valuation day and payable in Euro monthly in arrears,
subject to a minimum fee of TRY8,900 per month. The Administrator will also be paid an audit
assistance fee of an amount equivalent in Euro to TRY$,900. In addition, the Administrator will also be
paid a fee of TRY270 in respect of each new Unitholder and a fee of TRY45 for each update of the
Register that it is required to undertake. The Administrator is also reimbursed for any reasonable out-of-
pocket expenses necessarily incurred in the performance of its duties.

The Custodian receives out of the assets of the Series Trust a fee at the rate of 0.12% per annum of the
NAV, accrued on and calculated as at each valuation day and payable in US Dollars monthly in arrears,
subject to a minimum fee in US Dollars of an amount equivalent to TRY2,100 per month. The
Custodian is also reimbursed for any reasonable out-of-pocket expenses necessarily incurred in the
performance of its duties.
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8. Fees and Expenses (continued)

The distributors receive out of the assets of the Series Trust a fee at the rate of 0.35% per annum of the
NAYV, accrued on and calculated as at each valuation day and payable in Japanese Yen monthly in
arrears. As at year end, there were 28 distributors to the Series Trust.

The Agent Company receives out of the assets of the Series Trust a fee at the rate of 0.10% per annum
of the NAV, accrued on and calculated as at each valuation day and payable in Japanese Yen monthly

in arrears.

The fees payable as at March 19, 2021 are as follows:

TRY

Investment Manager fees 152,183
Sub-Investment Manager fees 279,002
Manager fees 12,682
Administration fees 67,666
Custodian fees 474,241
Trustee fees 20,291
Distributors and Agent Company fees 226,879
Audit fees 188,499
Other fees and expenses 361,034
1,782,477

9. Receivables from Repurchase Agreements

Repurchase agreements involve the purchase of securities by the Series Trust with an agreement by the
Series Trust to resell the securities at an agreed upon price, date and interest payment. Repurchase
agreements involve the credit risk that the counterparty to the repurchase agreement may default. As at
March 19, 2021, securities purchased under agreements to resell amounting to TRY478,000,000 are
collateralized principally by government bonds and Turkish agency bonds.

The Series Trust monitors collateral market values relative to the amounts due under the agreements,
including accrued interest, throughout the lives of the agreements, and when necessary, requires
transfer of cash or securities in order to manage exposure and liquidity. In connection with such
agreements, if the counterparty defaults or enters an insolvency proceeding, realization or return of the
collateral to the Series Trust may be delayed or limited.

As at March 19, 2021, the securities purchased under agreements to resell mature on or before March
22, 2021 and the interest applicable is 16.26%.
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10. Offsetting Assets and Liabilities

As of March 19, 2021, the Series Trust holds repurchase agreements that are eligible for offset in the
Statement of Assets and Liabilities. The repurchase arrangement allows the Series Trust to net any
receivables against collateral held.

The table below provides disclosure regarding the potential effect of offsetting of recognized assets
presented in the Statement of Assets and Liabilities and Statement of Changes in Net Assets:

Related amounts not offset in the

2021 Statement of Assets and Liabilities
Gross Net Amounts
Amounts of Recognized

Gross Offset in the Assets
Amounts  Statement Presented in
of of Assets the Statement Financial
Recognized and of Assets and Financial Collateral Net
Description Assets  Liabilities Liabilities Instruments  Received (a) amount
TRY TRY TRY TRY TRY TRY
Receivables
from
Repurchase
Agreements 478,000,000 - 478,000,000 - 478,000,000 =
478,000,000 - 478,000,000 - 478,000,000 -

(a) Amounts related to master netting agreements and collateral agreements determined by the Series
Trust to be legally enforceable in the event of any default, but certain other criteria are not met in
accordance with applicable offsetting accounting guidance. The collateral amounts may exceed the
related net amounts of financial assets and liabilities presented in the Statement of Assets and Liabilities,
if this is the case, the total amount reported is limited to net amounts of financial assets and liabilities
with that counterparty.

As at March 19, 2021, there are no recognized liabilities presented in the Statement of Assets and
Liabilities that are subject to offsetting.

11. Reconciliation of the Dealing NAV to NAV per Financial Statements

2021

TRY
Reported NAV 866,556,944
Trade date adjustment 4,164,029
NAV attributable to Holders of Units per Financial Statements 870,720,973
Number of Units per Reported NAV 86,655,691,956
Trade date adjustment 416,402,978
Number of Units per Financial Statements 87,072,094,934
Reported NAV per Unit 0.01
NAYV per Unit per Financial Statements 0.01
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11. Reconciliation of the Dealing NAYV to NAV per Financial Statements (continued)

For Unitholder dealing purposes, transactions are accounted for on a trade date plus 1 business day
basis. For financial reporting purposes, transactions are accounted for on a trade date basis. Transactions
oceurring between close of business on the last trade date and the financial reporting year end date have
required an adjustment of TRY4,164,029.

12. Subsequent Events
The Manager has performed a subsequent review from March 19, 2021 through to September 2, 2021
being the date that the financial statements were available to be issued. From March 19, 2021 through to
September 2, 2021 investors subscribed TRY313,974,037 into the Series Trust and redeemed
TRY262,344,683 capital from the Series Trust.

The Manager concluded that there were no other subsequent events which required additional disclosure
in these financial statements.
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2022
1,085,961,530.54 8,883,165,320
3,719,620.35 30,426,494
1,082,241,910.19 8,852,738,825
108,224,186,178
0.01 0.0818
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)
2021 12 31 2020 12 31
2021 2020
( )

( ) C ) ( ) «c )
2,530,732 345,900 2,058,710 281,384
4 585,703 80,054 600,748 82,110
293,705 40,144 186,744 25,524
9 150,428 20,560 272,903 37,300
3,560,568 486,658 3,119,105 426,319
5 255,475 34,918 268,248 36,664
255,475 34,918 268,248 36,664
3,816,043 521,577 3,387,353 462,983
18,662 2,551 52,054 7,115
931,237 127,281 747,805 102,210
831,521 113,652 690,915 94,434
1,384,623 189,250 1,246,579 170,382
3,166,043 432,735 2,737,353 374,141
6 50,000 6,834 50,000 6,834
600,000 82,008 600,000 82,008
650,000 88,842 650,000 88,842
3,816,043 521,577 3,387,353 462,983

2022 30
()
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2021 12 31 2020 12 31
2021 2020
( )
( ) « ) ( ) « )
8,414,155 1,150,047 8,971,680 1,226,249
( ) 4 3,688 504 (66,854) (9,138)
8,417,843 1,150,551 8,904,826 1,217,112
973,002 132,990 539,448 73,732
56,951 7,784 52,721 7,206
7,8.9 (6,638,466) (907,346)  (6,747,334) (922,226)
2,809,330 383,979 2,749,661 375,824
2,809,330 383,979 2,749,661 375,824
2021 12 31 2020 12 31

¢ > c > ~c > )y )y )

2019 12 31 50,000 6,834 600,000 82,008 650,000 88,842

- - 2,749,661 375,824 2,749,661 375,824

- - (2,749,661)  (375,824)  (2,749,661)  (375,824)

2020 12 31 50,000 6,834 600,000 82,008 650,000 88,842

- - 2,809,330 383,979 2,809,330 383,979

- - (2,809,330)  (383,979)  (2,809,330)  (383,979)

2021 12 31 50,000 6,834 600,000 82,008 650,000 88,842
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2021 12 31 2020 12 31
2021 2020
( )

( ) « ) ( ) « )
2,809,330 383,979 2,749,661 375,824
22,042 3,013 27,519 3,761
15,045 2,056 313,905 42,905
(106,961) (14,619) (49,012) (6.,699)
122,475 16,740 (179,809) (24,576)
(29,203) (3,991) (85,170) (11,641)
183,432 25,071 38,365 5,244
140,606 19,218 200,697 27,431
3,156,766 431,467 3,016,156 412,248
(9,269) (1,267) (3,264) (446)
(9,269) (1,267) (3,264) (446)
(2,675,475)  (365,684)  (2,316,333)  (316,596)
(2,675,475)  (365,684)  (2,316,333)  (316,596)
472,022 64,516 696,559 95,206
2,058,710 281,384 1,362,151 186,179
2,530,732 345,900 2,058,710 281,384

2021 12 31 2020 12 31
( )
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0 30 286,150 90,065
31 60 11,139 27,898
61 90 17,331 25,623
91 271,083 457,162

585,703 600,748

2021 2020

923,737 974,965

(338,034) (374,217)

585,703 600,748

2021 2020

374,217 316,991

(3,688) 66,854

- 88,121

( (32,495) (97,769)

338,034 374,217

2021
341,637 396,854 239,816 156,891 1,135,198
- 9,269 - - 9,269
341,637 406,123 239,816 156,891 1,144,467
189,578 385,870 188,884 102,618 866,950
3,894 6,746 5,536 5,866 22,042
193,472 392,616 194,420 108,484 888,992
2021 12 31

148,165 13,507 45,396 48,407 255,475
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2020
341,637 393,590 239,816 156,891 1,131,934
- 3,264 - - 3,264
341,637 396,854 239,816 156,891 1,135,198
185,889 373,774 181,491 98,219 839,373
3,689 12,096 7,393 4,399 27,577
189,578 385,870 188,884 102,618 866,950
2020 12 31
152,059 10,984 50,932 54,273 268,248
2021 2020
80,000 ( ) 96,000 96,000
41,667 (2020 41,667 ) 50,000 50,000
( )
2022
18,410 18,776 19,151
2021 2020
( )
220,920 128,870
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455,124 -
676,044 128,870
2021 12 31
61,994 (2020 83,391 )
2021 12 31
2021 2020
563,349 475,349
IMS 141,859 125,414
2021 2020
150,428 272,903
2021 12 31 3,929,626 (2020
4,233,086 ) 63,945 (2020 63,289 )

10.

2021 12 31
)
11. COVID-19
2020 COVID-19
COVID-19

12.
IFRS ( 16
( IFRS 16 ( )
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IFRS 16

2020

756,361
(756,361)

760,550
4,189
(760,550)

4,189

2020 2020

2,749,661 2,749,661

237,971 27,519

(210,452) -

2022 30
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

December 31, 2021 and 2020
(stated in United States dollars)

Note 2021 2020
(restated)
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2,530,732 2,058,710
Accounts receivable 4 585,703 600,748
Other receivables and prepaid expenses 293,705 186,744
Due from affiliated companies 9 150,428 272,903
3,560,568 3,119,105
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 5 255.475 268,248
255475 268,248
Total assets US$ 3,816,043 3,387.353
Liabilities and shareholder’s equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 18,662 52,054
Unearned income and payable to clients 931,237 747.805
Staff bonuses payable 831,521 690,915
Dividends payable 1,384,623 1,246,579
3.166,043 2.737.353
Shareholder’s equity
Share capital 6 50.000 50,000
Retained earnings 600,000 600,000
650,000 650,000
Total liabilities and shareholder’s equity US$ 3.816,043 3.387.353

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Approved on behalf of the Board on March 30, 2022

Paul Hammis
Director
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

For the years ended December 31. 2021 and 2020
(stated in United States dollars)

Note 2021 2020
(restated)
Income
Revenue B.414,155 8,971,680
Bad debts recovered (written off) 4 3,688 (66,854)
8.417.843 8.904.826
Expenses
Other income 973,002 539.448
Rental income 56,951 52,721
Administration expenses 7.8.9 {6.638,466) (6,747.334)
2,809,330 2.749.661
Net income Us$ 2,809,330 2.749.661

See accompanying notes fo consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholder’s Equity

For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
{(stated in United States dollars)
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Share Retained

capital earnings Total
Balance at December 31, 2019 50,000 600,000 650,000
Net income - 2,749,661 2,749.661
Dividends declared - (2,749.661) (2.749,661)
Balance at December 31. 2020 50.000 600,000 650,000
Net income - 2,809,330 2,809,330
Dividends declared - (2.809.330) (2.809.330)
Balance at December 31, 2021 US$ 50,000 600,000 650,000

See accompanving notes to consolidated financial stateinents.
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(stated in United States dollars)

2021 2020
(restated)
Operafing activities
Net income 2.809.330 2,749 661
Adjustments for non-cash items:
Depreciation 22,042 27,519
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by
operations:
Accounts receivable 15,045 313905
Other receivables and prepaid expenses (106,961) (49.012)
Due from affiliated companies 122 475 (179.809)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (29,203) (85.170)
Uneamed income and payable to clients 183,432 38.365
Staff bonuses payable 140,606 200,697
Net cash provided by operating activities 3,156,766 3.016.516
Investing activities
Purchase of fixed assets (9,269 (3.264)
Loss on disposal of assets - -
Net cash used in investing activities (9.269) (3.264)
Financing activities
Dividends paid (2.675,475) (2,316,333)
Net cash used in financing activities (2.675.475) (2,316,333)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents during year 472.022 696.559
Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year 2,058,710 1,362,151
Cash and cash equivalents end of year USS 2,530,732 2,058,710

See accompanying nofes fo consolidated financial statements.
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2021 and 2020
(stated in United States dollars)

1. Imcorporation and background information

International Management Services Ltd. (the “Company™) was incorporated under the Companies
Law (2021 Revision) of the Cayman Islands on August 30. 1974 and provides company and
insurance management and corporate secretarial services. On December 12. 1985, the Company
was licensed under Section 4 (5) of the Companies Management Act (2021 Revision) to carry on
the business of company management in or within the Cayman Islands. On May 13, 1988, the
Company was licensed under Section 4 (2) of The Insurance Act 2010 (2021 Revision), to carry on
the business of insurance management in or within the Cayman Islands. On July 27, 1994, the
Company was licensed under Section 12 of The Mutual Funds Act (2021 Revision) to carry on the
business of mutual fund administration. On June 7, 2004 the Company was licensed under the Banks
and Trust Companies Act (2021 Revision), to carry on trust business from within the Cayman
Islands. On December 28, 2006, the Company surrendered its Companies Management Licence.

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of The IMS Group Ltd.. a company also incorporated
in the Cayman Islands.

The financial results of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries (the “Group™) are
consolidated at year end to form the Group.

The registered office of the Company is 3" Floor Harbour Centre, George Town. P.O. Box 61, Grand
Cayman KY1-1102, Cayman Islands. '

The Group had 24 employees as at December 31. 2021 (2020: 25).

2. Basis of presentation
fa) Statement of compliance

This is the first set of financial statements prepared by the Group in accordance with the
‘International Financial Reporting Standards for Small and Medium-sized Entities (“IFRS for
SMEs")" issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). The principal
accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set
out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented. unless
otherwise stated.

Management has made an assessment of the Group's ability to continue as a going concem and
is satisfied that the Group has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future.
Furthermore, management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast a significant
doubt upon the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the consolidated
financial statements continue to be prepared on the going concern basis.

(b) Basis of measurement
These consolidated financial statements are prepared on the historical cost.
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateinents (continued)

December 31, 2021 and 2020
(stated in United States dollars)

2. Basis of presentation (continued)
(c) Functional and presentation currency

The Group’s functional and presentation currency is the United States dollar ("US$") and not
the local currency of the Cayman Islands reflecting the fact that the Group’s operations are
primarily conducted in United States dollars.

(d) Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS for SMEs requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the
reported amounts of income and expenses during the year. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.

e} Corresponding figures
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.
{f) Capital management

The Group's regulator. the Cayman Islands Monetary Authority (the “Authority™). sets and
monitors capital requirements for the Group under the Monetary Authority Law (2021
Revision). the Companies Management Law (2020 Revision). the Insurance Law, 2010, the
Mutual Funds Law (2021 Revision) and the Bank and Trust Companies Law (2021 Revision).
The Group is required to have a minimum net worth of CI$400,000 (US$500,000) and has a 3
month filing deadline after year end date. The Group's policy is to maintain a strong capital base
to sustain future development of the business. The Group has complied with all imposed capital
requirements throunghout the year, and there were no material changes to the Group’s
management of capital during the year.

(g) New Standards effective for annual period beginning 1 January 2021

There are no new standards or amendments effective for annual periods beginning 1January
2021 that will have a significant impact to the Group.
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2021 and 2020
(stated in United States dollars)

3. Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in
these consolidated financial statements. There have been no changes to accounting policies. The
significant accounting policies adopted by the Group are as follows:

{a) Consolidated wholly owned subsidiaries

Company Business Date of incorporation/addition
SH Corporate Services Ltd Registered Office Services April 20, 2001
A.S. Nominees Ltd.* Nominee Company January 27, 1978
N.D. Nominee Ltd. * Nominee Company January 27. 1978
N.S. Nominee Ltd.* Nominee Company January 27, 1978
Cardinal Nominee Limited*  Nominee Company October 26. 1979
IMS Trustees Ltd.* Trustee Services April 27, 2012
IMS Liguidations Ltd. Liquidation Services January 25, 2013

* These wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company have been established fo act only in a
nominee capacity and have not traded in their own right during the year ended December 31,
2021 and 2020.

All income earned and expenses incurred by these companies are accounted for by the Company
and all inter-company transactions and balances are eliminated on consolidation. The financial
statements of the subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date
that control commences to the date that control ceases. The Group accounts for business
combinations using the acquisition method when control is transferred to the Group. The
consideration is generally measured at fair value, as are the identifiable net assets acquired.

(b) Financial assets and liabilities

Financial instruments are initially measured at the transaction price (this includes transaction
cost except in the initial measurement of financial assets and liabilities that will be measured at
fair value through profit or loss). If, however the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction
it is then measured at the present value of the future payments, discounted at a market related
interest rate.
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2021 and 2020
(stated in United States dollars)

3. Significant accounting policies (confinued)
(¢} Accounts receivables

Accounts receivables represent amounts due from clients and related parties for services
performed in the normal course of business. Most sales are made on the basis of normal credit
terms. and the receivables do not bear interest. Where credit is extended beyond normal credit
terms, receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Other
receivables are considered past due after 90 to 180 days. At the end of each reporting period,
the carrying amounts of accounts receivable are reviewed to detenmine whether there is any
objective evidence that the amounts are not recoverable. If so, an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

{d) Revenue Recognition

The Group recognises revenue in the amount expected to be received for services supplied at a
point in time or over time as contractual performance obligations are fulfilled and control of
services passes to the customer.

Where the contractual performance obligations are satisfied over time and revenue is recognised
over fime.

Where performance obligations are satisfied at a point in time. revenue is recognised when the
risks and rewards of ownership have transferred to the customer. This is at the point where the
service is delivered to the customer and there are no unfulfilled obligations that could affect the
customer’s acceptance of the service.

Nature of services

The following is a description of the principal activities from which the Group generates its
revenue.

(i) Professional services

Fees generated from a range of professional services including directorship services.
captive insurance management services, trustee services and anti-money laundering
services.

(ii} Management fee from related party
Fees generated from the provision of administration services to a related party.
(iii) Registered office services

Fees generated from the provision of registered office services.

10
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2021
(stated in United States dollars)

3. Significant accounfing policies (continued)
(d) Revenie Recognition (continued)
Performance obligations and revenue recognition policies

The Group recognizes revenue from the provision of fiduciary and registered office services to
client companies. The specific services required involve the provision of a director to act in his
fiduciary capacity for client companies as well as the provision of a client company registered
office for a set annual fee. In addition, as part of the contractual terms, client companies also
require corporate services throughout the financial year on the basis of fees specified in the
contract.

e} Foreign currency

Assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at rates of
exchange prevailing at the consolidated statements of financial position date. Transactions in
foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange ruling on the date of the transaction.
Any resulting exchange gains or losses are credited or debited to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

() Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents is comprised of current bank accounts held with financial institutions
with original terms to maturity of three months or less.

(g) Property, plant and equipmment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment loss.

Depreciation is recognised in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income after taking
into account residual values over the following expected useful lives of the assets using the

respective methods:
Office building 2.5% p.a. Reducing Balance
Computer equipment 20% p.a.  Straight Line Method
Fumiture and equipment 10% p.a. Reducing Balance
Leasehold improvements 10% p.a. Reducing Balance

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment is reviewed at each reporting date to
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. Impairment losses are recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the year in which they are identified.

(h) Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased asset to the lessee. All other leases are classified
as operating leases.

11
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2021
(stated in United States doliars)

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(i) Income recognition and fees billed in advance

Management fees are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income over
the period for which services are provided.

Unearned income and payable to clients comprise funds received from clients as prepayments
for services to be performed in future years.

(i) Expenses

Expenses are recognised in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income on the accrual
basis.

k) Emplovee benefits
(i)  Defined contribution pension plan

The Group participates in a defined contribution plan. A defined contribution plan is a
post-employment benefit plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a
separate entity and has no legal or constructive obligation if the plan does not hold
sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to employee service in the current
and prior periods. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are
recognised as an expense in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income as
incurred.
(ii}  Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and
expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amouant
expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has
a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service
provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

(1) Assels under administration

In the normal course of business, the Group provides fiduciary services by acting as trustee of
Trusts. The assets and liabilities of the Trusts under the Group’s management are not incorporated
in these consolidated financial statements.

4. Accounts Receivable

The nature of the Group's exposure to credit risk and its objectives, policies, and processes for
managing credit risk have not changed significantly from the prior year. The Group's maximum
exposure to credit risk is the carrying value of its financial assets. The Group establishes an
allowance for bad and doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of
accounts receivable.

12
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2021
(stated in United States dollars)

4. Accounts Receivable (continued)

The Group manages credit risk in respect of accounts receivables by performing periodic reviews
of outstanding customer balances. Management does not expect any significant counterparties to
fail to meet their obligations. Management believes that unimpaired amounts that are past due more

than 30 days are still collectible in full.
The Group’s aging of accounts receivables at the reporting date was:

2021 2020
0 to 30 days 286,150 90.065
31 to 60 days 11,139 27.898
61 to 90 days 17,331 25.623
More than 91 days 271.083 457,162
USs 585,703 600,748
The Group’s accounts receivables at the reporting date were:
2021 2020
Gross accounts receivable 923,737 974,965
Provision for doubtful accounts (338.034) (374.217)
US$  585.703 600,748
Movements in the provision for doubtful accounts during the year are as follows:
2021 2020
Balance at beginning of year 374,217 316,991
Charge to statement of comprehensive income (3,688) 66,854
Recoveries of doubtful debts - 88,121
Bad debts (recovered) / written off (32,495) (97,769)
US$  338.034 374,217

13
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2021
(stated in United States dollars)

5. Property, plant and equipment

Office  Computer Furniture & Leasehold

2021 building equipment equipment improvements Total

Cost:

Balance at beginning 341,637 396,854 239,816 156,891 1,135,198
of year

Additions - 9.269 - - 9.269

Balance at end of year 341,637 406,123 239,816 156,891 1,144,467

Accumulated depreciation:

Balance at beginning 189.578 385.870 188.884 102,618 866,950
of year

Charge for year 3,894 6.746 5,536 5,866 22,042

Balance at end of year 193,472 392,616 194,420 108,484 888,992

Net book value at

December 31, 2021 US§ 148,165 13,507 45,396 48,407 255,475

Office = Computer Furniture & Leasehold

2020 building equipment equipment improvements Total

Cost:

Balance at beginning 341,637 393,590 239,816 156,891 1,131.934
of year

Additions - 3,264 - - 3,264

Balance at end of year 341.637 396,854 239 816 156,821 1,135,198

Accumulated depreciation:

Balance at beginning 185,889 373,774 181,491 98,219 839,373
of year

Charge for year 3.689 12.096 7.393 4,399 27.577

Balance at end of year 189.578 385.870 188.884 102,618 866,950

Net book value at

December 31, 2020 US$ 152,059 10,984 50,932 54.273 268,248

14
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2021
(stated in United States dollars)

6. Share capital

2021 2020
Authorised:
80,000 shares of CI$1 each USS 96,000 96,000
" Issued and fully paid:
41,667 shares (2020 : 41,667) Uss$ 50,000 50,000
7. Leases

The Group has a lease for its operating premises, a floor of an office building. The Group classifies
this lease as an operating lease, the lease is for a period of 3 years commencing 1 January 2022. The
rent payable under the lease is $18.410 per month for the period of the lease for the first year.
$18,776 per month for the second year and § 19,151 per month for the third year of the lease.

The lease generally imposes a restriction that, unless there is a contractual right for the Group to
sublet the asset to another party, the premises can only be used by the Group. Leases may only be
cancelled by incurring a substantive termination fee.

The table below describes the nature of the Group’s leasing activities recognised on the balance
sheet:

Future minimum lease payiments

The total of future minimum lease payments under the lease may be analysed as follows:

2021 2020

(restated)

Less than one year 220,920 128,870
Greater than one year but less than five years 455,124 -
USsS 676,044 128,870

15
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2021
(stated in United States dollars)

8. Defined contribution pension plan

The Group participates in the Fidelity Pension Plan, a defined contribution pension scheme. The
Group is required to match each employee’s contribution on a one to one basis up to 5% of the
emplovee’s annual salary. During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Group contributed
US$61,994 (2020: US$83.391).

9. Related party transactions

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Group eamed the following administration and
management fees from its affiliated companies:

2021 2020
Corporate Filing Services Ltd. US$ 563,349 475.349
IMS Secunities Ltd. 141,859 125,414
Amounts due from related affiliates are as follows:

2021 2020
Corporate Filing Services Ltd. US§ 150,428 272,903

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Group paid US$3,929,626 (2020: US$4,233,086) in
short-term employment benefits and US$63.945 (2020: US$63.289) in long-term employment
benefits to key management personnel.

10. Contingencies

The Group, in its fiduciary capacity, may be a party to litigation and claims in the normal course of
business. In the opinien of the Directors, which is based on the advice of the Group’s legal counsel.
no contingency provisions are required at 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

11. Considerations of the impact of COVID-19

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization officially declared COVID-19, the disease
caused by the novel coronavirus, a pandemic. The pandemic has developed rapidly during the
financial year and measures taken by governments internationally has significantly affected
economic activity, which has had implications for financial reporting. Management has considered
the impact of COVID-19 in relation to expected future performance and future asset valuations and
has concluded that such impact would not be significant to the operations of the Group

16
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2021
(stated in United States dollars)

12. Impact of change in accounting policy

Following the adoption of IFRS for SMEs (see Note 2), the Group was required fo restate certain
balances with respect to the lease arrangements (see Note 8) that had previously been reported in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standard 16: Leases (“IFRS 16”). Previously the
lease was recognised as a Finance Lease under IFRS 16, a Right of Use Asset and corresponding
lease liability was disclosed on the consolidated statements of financial position.

The right-of-use asset was measured at cost, made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability,
any initial direct costs incurred by the Group and any lease payments made in advance of the lease
commencement date (net of any incentives received).

The Group depreciated the right-of-use asset on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement
date to the end of the lease term.

IFRS for SME’s allows for the lease to be disclosed as an operating lease, therefore the following
adjustments have been made to the prior year comparatives:

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

2020

Total assets, initially reported Uss 756,361
Adjustment to Right of Use Asset (756.361)

Total Assets, restated -

Total liabilities and equity, initially reported Uss 760,550

Adjustment to Accounts payable and accrued expenses 4,189
Adjustment to lease liability (760,550)

Total liabilities and equity, restated 4,189

17
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31. 2021
(stated in United States dollars)

12. Impact of change in accounting policy (confinued)

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow

Original Restated
2020 2020
Operating activities
Net income for year 2,749,661 2.749.661
Add/{deduct):
Items not affecting the movement of cash:
Depreciation 237,971 27.519
Financing activities
Repayment of lease liabilities (210.452) -

13. Subsequent events

In preparing these consolidated financial statements. management has evaluated and disclosed all
material subsequent events up to March 30. 2022 which is the date that the consolidated financial
statements were available to be issued.

18
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Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Turkish Lira Money Market
Fund (the “ Series Trust” ), a series trust of Multi Strategies Fund, which comprise
the statement of assets and liabilities, including the schedule of investments as at
March 19, 2022, the statements of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Series Trust as at March 19, 2022, and its
financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
US generally accepted accounting principles.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing

(“ ISAs” ). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
“ Auditor”s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Series Trust in accordance with International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (* IESBA Code” )
together with ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Restriction on Use

This report is made solely to the Trustee in accordance with the terms of our
engagement. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Trustee
those matters we are required to state to the Trustee in an auditor®s report and for
no other purpose. We do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
Trustee, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinion we have formed.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these
financial statements in accordance with US generally accepted accounting principles,
and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Series Trust®s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless management either intends to liquidate the Series Trust or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Series Trust"s

financial reporting process.
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Auditor®s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor®s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with 1SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and

maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Series Trust®s internal
control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.
Conclude on the appropriateness of management®s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Series
Trust"s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor®s report to the
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor®s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Series Trust to cease to continue as a going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Turkish Lira Money Market
Fund (the “ Series Trust” ), a series trust of Multi Strategies Fund, which comprise
the statement of assets and liabilities, including the schedule of investments as at
March 19, 2021, the statements of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Series Trust as at March 19, 2021, and its
financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
US generally accepted accounting principles.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing

(“ ISAs” ). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
“ Auditor”s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Series Trust in accordance with International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (* IESBA Code” )
together with ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Restriction on Use

This report is made solely to the Trustee in accordance with the terms of our
engagement. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Trustee
those matters we are required to state to the Trustee in an auditor®s report and for
no other purpose. We do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
Trustee, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinion we have formed.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these
financial statements in accordance with US generally accepted accounting principles,
and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Series Trust®s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless management either intends to liquidate the Series Trust or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Series Trust"s

financial reporting process.
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Auditor®s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor®s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with 1SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Series Trust"s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management®s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Series
Trust®s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor®s report to the
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor®™s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Series Trust to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the

planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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2022 30

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR"S REPORT
To the Directors of International Management Services Ltd.

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of International Management Services Ltd.
(the “ Company” ), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2021,
and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in shareholder®s
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated

financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2021, and its financial performance and its cash
flows for the years then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standard for Small

and Medium- Sized Entities (* IFRS for SMES” ).

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for the Company"s directors as a body for regulatory
filing purposes only. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other
purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come, save where

expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ ISAs” ). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor®s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants® International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained

is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements
in accordance with IFRS for SMEs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,

whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company®s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or

cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company*s financial reporting process.

Auditor”s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor"s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with I1SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional

skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

eldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

eObtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Company®s internal control.

eEvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

<Conclude on the appropriateness of management®s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Company®"s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor®s report to the
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
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opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor-"s

report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going
concern.

eEvaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal

control that we identify during our audit.

Grant Thornton
George Town
Grand Cayman
March 30, 2022
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